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A symbiotic relationship: Chindit and mule — close companions under the forest canopy. (Trustees of the Imperial War Museum)


THE CHINDITS’ SONNET


As a small child, remembers the horror and fright,


Felt after a nightmare dreamed in the night;


So the feelings returned a hundred times worse,


Left him trembling and fearful – he uttered a curse.


A curse against Fate that had left him to dread,


Each waking hour with its now peaceful dead.


Here, none to comfort and soothe away fears,


Nor spoken, those soft words to banish all tears.


It was time for a grown man to gather his strength,


Must hurry, not worry, they will march the full length;


Span the breadth, reach the heights – together will ask,


Fear conquered, no flight, win and victory grasp?


My partners, my buddies, my best mates, my friends;


Together, forever; no beginnings, no ends.


Kathleen Ross


(Kathleen Ross’ collection of poems, Stars of Burma and Poems on the Theme of War, was published in 2005.)
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To my father, John ‘Jack’ Redding − Chindit − and his brothers-in-arms. To my wife, Philippa, and my grandchildren, Molly and Zach.


All royalties from the sale of this book are donated to Friends of the Chindits.


FRONT COVER The Queen’s 21 Column Wireless Detachment cross the Kaukkwe Chaung at the end of three hard months in Burma with 16 Brigade. They are making for Broadway airstrip and evacuation to Assam. This photograph was taken by 21 Column’s Intelligence Officer, Captain C.S. Phillips, on or around 1 May 1944, with Broadway just a couple of days away. In the foreground is NCO Signaller Tony Howard, leading the Detachment, followed by Muleteer Paddy Myers and ‘Taxi’, the mule laden with the Column’s precious wireless and batteries. Taxi was playful and had a habit of deliberately leaning to one side while being loaded. Behind Myers are Wireless Operator Geordie Beaton, Muleteer Private Holmes with his mule, ‘Dextrose’ (carrying batteries), and, just entering the chaung, Wireless Operator George Hill. (Tony Howard)
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FOREWORD


I remember, as a young girl, listening to my father tell stories about his father — Major-General Orde Wingate. Though Orde died two months before he was born, my father was inspired enough by his life and achievements, not only to pass on those tales, but also to dedicate much of his own life to the British Army. The stories that were recounted to me — of struggle, heroism and honour in almost unimaginable conditions — were often frightening but always amazing and enthralling. But I was young and, of course, having never had the opportunity to meet my grandfather myself, those stories were difficult for me to grasp and the experiences too remote from my own life to understand fully.


Over the years, my family and I have attended many gatherings and reunions of the Chindits at which we have had the chance to meet and chat with old comrades. They are a unique band of men who share an exceptional past. I have always been moved by the warmth of the welcome and the strength of the friendships that endure to this day, not just among the men but among their families too.


Tony Redding’s book is a fascinating record of the Chindits’ campaigns in Burma. Reading the recollections of people who lived through those experiences brings home the truth of the stories I used to hear. It is, for me, a moving, though often difficult, way to learn about my grandfather through the words and experiences of people who suffered and fought alongside him.


It is a privilege to be a Patron of the Friends of the Chindits and to be able to introduce these inspiring and dramatic stories. It is important that the endeavours of these men are remembered and that, through books such as this, the accounts of their lives and sacrifices are preserved.
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Alice Wingate


Patron, Friends of the Chindits


Granddaughter of Major-General Orde Wingate
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PREFACE


MAJOR NEVILLE Hogan, MBE, Chairman of the Chindits Old Comrades’ Association, is a straighttalking man. When I began work on this book and first approached him, he asked: ‘Why now? Why talk to us now? After all, we are in our eighties. Some are in their nineties. In fact, most of us are dead!’


These initial comments were not encouraging. Happily, however, Neville Hogan’s gruff exterior belies an extraordinarily generous heart. His help and support opened many doors. Some 50 veterans agreed to be interviewed. Family members were enthusiastic, providing documents, letters, photographs and several important unpublished accounts.


Hogan’s question demands an answer. Why now? The reasons are personal, in part. My father, John ‘Jack’ Redding, was a Chindit with the 2nd Battalion, King’s Own Royal Regiment. He took part in the Operation Thursday assault glider landings in the Burmese jungle clearing code-named ‘Broadway’. In common with so many of his generation, he said little about his war. The family is left with half a dozen anecdotes, one or two of an exceedingly unpleasant character.


My father was overseas for four years and four months. He arrived back in England in March 1946. He assumed he had priority for demob but, to his surprise and fury, was told he would soon embark for further service abroad, this time to Palestine. This was too much. He argued his case and won, but the anger persisted for many years. He returned his medals and put the war behind him, beyond the occasional bout of recurrent malaria.


I never really talked to my father about his experience as a Chindit; I had the idea it would disturb him. In the late 1990s, my father entered his eighties and had a change of heart. He obtained a new set of medals, joined the Burma Star Association and marched past the Cenotaph later in the year. Indeed, he marched on three successive Novembers. On the final occasion we arrived early and visited the Garden of Remembrance in the grounds of Westminster Abbey. We reached the Chindits’ plot. I asked if he wanted a cross, to remember someone. He asked for two, for farmer’s boy Dave Davies, from Wiltshire and another close friend, ‘Nobby’ Evans. Both died in Burma; one was killed in action and the other succumbed to cerebral malaria. When I placed the crosses my father broke down. I realised, at that point, that my many questions would never be asked.


My father died in May 2005. Three years later, my wife and I, idle on a Sunday afternoon, visited the country’s largest military ‘Living History’ event at the Kent County Showground. That day I met Bill Smith — ‘Chindit Bill’ — for the first time. It was an unforgettable encounter. Bill was dressed as a Chindit NCO, complete with his late father’s bush hat, large pack and Thompson submachine gun. To my delight, his companions had two mules, equipped Chindit-fashion. Bill and I have much in common. Our fathers were Chindits. We wanted to find out more and we shared a deep admiration for those who took part in Wingate’s two expeditions. My meeting with ‘Chindit Bill’ was the catalyst that prompted the preparation of this book.


War against a fanatical enemy, behind the lines in the North Burmese jungle, imposed physical and mental demands probably exceeding those experienced in any other form of combat. I make no apology for setting out the appalling nature of the Chindit experience, in often painful detail. How else would one measure the spirit and determination of those who endured?


This book is not an attempt to tell the story from the perspective of a military academic. I have no qualifications for such a project. Many books have considered Wingate’s expeditions and the man himself. These works are of varying quality. Some were written by historians; others were produced by those who were there, notably Slim, Calvert, Fergusson and Masters.


This book is not the latest in a long series of attempts to tell Orde Charles Wingate’s story. Wingate is an enigma, nearly 70 years after his death on a remote hillside in Assam. I have no wish to join the Wingate bandwagon. Books about him almost always set out to prove something: Wingate was a madman, who threw away the lives of too many good men for little real return; Wingate was a genius, far ahead of his time, who influenced Japanese strategic thinking and contributed significantly to the enemy’s destruction in Burma. Towering far above the extremes is a simple fact: most of Wingate’s Chindits idolised him. He won deep respect, affection and loyalty among most (but certainly not all) of his men.


To conclude, I have no wish to play the military academic. The purpose of this book is to document the Chindit operations through the memories of the veterans. It serves as a testament to their courage and extraordinary fortitude. It offers a human perspective for the children, grandchildren and those who come after. I have drawn on the extensive literature on Wingate and the Chindits so far as necessary to provide a context for personal accounts. I thank all those who so kindly gave their permission for quotations from those publications.


It was an honour and privilege to interview such a grand body of men. Most interviews were conducted in person. In many cases the memories shared were voiced for the first time. Openness came at a price. Some contributors felt the pain of events that occurred over six decades ago, still raw and vivid — as if they happened yesterday. A number of contributors were in failing health yet remained determined to contribute. One man, when asked if he could continue, remarked: ‘I take each day as it comes, just as I did then!’


Naturally, there are limitations when recounting memories from over 60 years ago. There are many difficulties relating to chronology, locations, unresolved issues surrounding the complex Chindit operations and, of course, the interactions of personalities such as Wingate, Stilwell, Lentaigne, Fergusson, Calvert and Masters. That said, the author trusts that the operational narrative provides a robust spine for the personal commentaries — including those from the Mustang pilot flying top cover over Broadway clearing, the medical orderly who nursed Wingate after his suicide attempt, the man who took another’s life to save him from possible torture and those who suffered the long trial of incarceration by the Japanese. Material from the interviews is presented for the most part in italics. Doubts over particular issues are mentioned in the text. That said, the responsibility for residual errors rests entirely with the author.


The contributors include Sergeant Major Bob Hobbs of Westgate, Kent. During our conversation I mentioned my father’s Chindit service. Hobbs asked if he was still alive. When I said no, he paused, deep in thought, and then remarked: ‘Your father may be gone, but he keeps very good company!’ Hobbs’ comment stayed with me throughout the preparation of this book. It was an inspiration. There is a large table in Valhalla, with a reserved seat for every Chindit.


Tony Redding


Ash, Canterbury, Kent




INTRODUCTION


ONE CAN only wonder at the physical and mental resilience of the Chindits. One factor stands out beyond all else: the alien character of the jungle environment for most who fought in North Burma. The author’s father, for example, grew up in modest circumstances in one of the grimmer inner suburbs of South London, a different world indeed from the Burmese jungle.


George MacDonald Fraser (Quartered Safe Out Here) considers the jungle’s impact on the individual:


It is disconcerting to find yourself soldiering in an exotic oriental country which is medieval in outlook, against a barbarian enemy given to burying prisoners up to their neck or hanging them by the heels for bayonet practice … where you could get your dinner off a tree, be eaten alive by mosquitoes and leeches … wake in the morning to find your carelessly neglected mess tin occupied by a spider the size of a soup plate, watch your skin go white and puffy in ceaseless rain … gape in wonder at huge, gilded pagodas silent in the wilderness and find yourself taken aback at the sight of a domestic water tap, because you haven’t seen such a thing for months.


These pressures were compounded for the Chindits, operating behind enemy lines and as much the hunted as the hunters. Fraser added that service in Burma was ‘with the possible exception of aircrew … generally believed to be the worst ticket you could draw in the lottery of active service.’


The jungle offered psychological as well as physical challenges. There was immense mental pressure, with no prospect of relief. J.P. Cross (Jungle Warfare) comments: ‘The very nature of primary jungle, its close-horizontal, all pervading, never-ending green of trees, vines, creepers and undergrowth prevents the eyes from seeing as far as the ears can hear, so voices have to be kept low and equipment so handled that it does not reverberate.’


Absolute silence, of course, was impossible in a Column of 400 men and their animals. Efforts to keep the noise down aggravated the tension. Bernard Fergusson (Beyond the Chindwin) described how this affected the nerves. During Operation Longcloth in 1943, when approaching Tonmakeng, Fergusson’s Column met others on the track:


I found that one Column had forbidden talking and was making all men converse in whispers. I was shocked to find this, for I am convinced it is bad psychology and leads to undue nervousness. Talking in a low voice is another thing altogether and can easily be acquired with training, but whispering is hard on the voice as well as the nerves and leads, moreover, to misunderstandings. It is a bad rule and this Column, I know, did away with it after a bit.


It is unfortunate that some lessons from Operation Longcloth were overlooked when Operation Thursday began the following year. Free conversation between men had a positive influence on morale. Rhodes James (Chindit) wrote of the central importance of comradeship: ‘In the enforced intimacy of the Column, men became neighbours and bedfellows, sharing fires and pooling rations. Every man was found out for what he was and those who stood the test … had good reason to be proud.’ Cross described life in the jungle as


… a state of permanent dampness, rain or sweat, of stifling, mindless heat, of dirty clothes, of smelling bodies, of heavy loads, of cocked and loaded weapons, of tensed reflexes, of inaccurate maps, of constant vigilance, of tired limbs, of sore shoulders where equipment straps have bitten in, of a chafed crotch, of the craving for a cigarette and a cold beer for some and a cup of tea for others.


The enemy often became almost an aside in these appalling conditions. Cross added:


The real fight was against the enervating climate, the demanding terrain, the corroding atmosphere of unrelieved tension, the fitfulness of sleep and lack of hot meals, of disease and of accident, of having to carry everything everywhere as one side groped for the other like a grotesque game of blind man’s bluff. All the while the soldier had to be ready for a split second contact, for a few minutes of hectic action when patrol bumped patrol or, after great effort, an attack was launched or an ambush sprung.


A Chindit Column Commander and his men had to be ready to face any eventuality. Two separate rendezvous positions (24 hours and subsequent) were agreed and communicated each day. Bill Towill (A Chindit’s Chronicle) describes the significance of the RV:


We were under constant threat of ambush or having to meet the enemy in a hard-fought action, in which some of our men might be scattered and not able to regroup immediately and it was therefore essential for everyone to know how they could link up with the main body again.


Each man marched with the equivalent of around half his bodyweight on his back. This was the very essence of Chindit soldiering. An iron will was required to bear such a load in tropical (and, later, Monsoon) conditions across some of the toughest country on Earth. Even in dry conditions the going was hard. Rhodes James:


The continual plod through dust or mud, the back of the man in front, up, down, up, down, eyes fixed on his boots, inspecting each scrap of dust as it was shaken off his heel, the periodical shifting of his pack or changing of his arms, waiting for him to negotiate a difficult part of the track. Watching him impersonally, unconsciously, but cursing him for what he was, the maddening rhythm in our eyes. Mad? No, just very weary and inexpressibly bored, when each unusual move or faltering step becomes a major event.


The widespread belief that all Chindits were volunteers was a myth. Some officers and men did volunteer, for many different reasons. Some even volunteered twice, despite the sufferings of the first expedition. Yet most had no say in the matter. Some units consisted of unpromising material, though these Battalions blossomed as the unfit and unsuitable were weeded out in a gruelling training regime that removed every vestige of civilised life.


Observations on training — made by Cross — are probably as relevant today as they were in 1943 and 1944:


Special training is necessary to accustom troops to the strange conditions of jungle life. This training … must inculcate the ability to move quickly and silently, to find the way accurately and with confidence, to shoot to kill at disappearing targets from all positions on the ground, out of trees and from the hip, to carry out tactical operations in the jungle by means of battle drill without waiting for detailed orders. Above all, the highest pitch of physical toughness was, and still is, essential for everyone involved and the leadership of junior commanders must be confident, offensive and inspiring.
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Adjusting a load: efforts to keep the noise down aggravated the tension. Lieutenant John Salazar took many photographs while inside Burma and these were circulated widely after the war. (John Riggs)


The men who experienced the strain of Chindit operations became extraordinarily close. They paired up. If safe to do so they made fires – one man would prepare two meals while his ‘mucker’ made cha. Pairs would shelter together and watch each other’s backs at vulnerable moments, such as when answering calls of nature.
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A lonely grave: Chindits bury a comrade, the grave marked by a simple bamboo cross. Later, efforts were made to recover remains for formal interment. (Trustees of the Imperial War Museum)


Companionship and food were the great influences on morale. The lengthy dependence on emergency K-rations did much to undermine Special Force’s fighting capacity. Following Blackpool Block’s fall and in the push towards Mogaung, Rhodes James wrote of a slow descent into starvation:


For four months we had been existing on K-rations, which is, I think, a world record. These rations had been augmented to some extent but the K-ration remained the basis. Before going into operations we had been assured that the rations contained an ample reserve of calories and we believed it. The truth, we afterwards discovered, was something entirely different. The K-ration was only sufficient to keep up a man’s strength for 10 days at fighting pitch.


The lack of bulk and sheer monotony of K-rations ground down the strongest:


The exotic American flavours began to nauseate us … the troops were weakened through unsuitable rations and the process was accelerated by the fact that they could not make themselves eat all that was provided. Jaded appetites could be stirred by onions and we always welcomed them. Rice, which we obtained locally, was our greatest standby; it filled our bellies and left us deeply satisfied, while it could form the basis for all kinds of food. But there was not enough of it.


News from home was also important and occasionally available by air drop. This could have highly positive or disastrously negative effects on morale at the individual level. Some men receiving bad news from (or about) wives and girlfriends lost the will to live. Some men had low expectations. Major Denis Arnold, MC, commented dryly: ‘I didn’t expect any mail from home and received very little, although I did receive some herbal cigarettes from my mother!’


Disease was a part of daily life. Everyone appreciated the potentially fearful consequences of falling ill. Many felt it better to be killed than be seriously wounded or fall gravely ill. Disease brought many men very low, to the point of extreme indifference or even suicide. Denis Arnold remembers two cases where men shot themselves – ‘possibly in the deep depression that can result from a bout of scrub typhus.’


A report from the Medical Officer of the 4th Border Regiment (23 Brigade), following operations in the Naga Hills, reveals the extraordinary regime surrounding the treatment of the sick. Captain (later, Lieutenant Col.) H.W.W. Good’s paper set out recommendations for tackling Chindit medical problems (Imperial War Museum, 87/37/1): ‘Unless the Long Range Penetration Column becomes involved in a major action, the problem of sickness is far greater than that of battle casualties.’ He added:


It is obvious, from the very start, that a different attitude has to be taken towards sickness on LRP than is taken in any form of operations where one can either evacuate a sick man or hold him in a sick bay long enough to get him on his feet again.


Officers must set an example:


If you are feeling groggy, go along and see the MO at one of the long halts and get some medicine and make yourself carry on, and you will find that the bulk of your men will do the same. You are also in a better moral position to drive on the unwilling.


Good went on to stress the value of a no-compromise regime during training: ‘The maxim I used to lay down in lecturing troops was that as long as a man is conscious, is not in severe pain and has no impediment of locomotion, such as a severe injury to leg or foot, he will keep marching.’ He had good things to say about the wide range of drugs and equipment made available to Column MOs: ‘Practically every known complaint is catered for and the only thing impossible to prescribe is rest.’


On Mepacrine discipline, Good was emphatic on use of the malaria suppressant: ‘Make sure to dispel the rumour that is always stated among the men that Mepacrine makes a man sterile. I can assure you such is not the case.’


Good’s advice to Platoon Commanders on operations was, if possible, to look at all wounds: ‘By this means you will become accustomed to seeing what may previously have seemed very frightening conditions and you will not get into a “flap” about them.’ His advice extended to basic sanitation: ‘Make it a drill that no man goes for a “rear” during a halt in the march, or in an area where a latrine is impracticable unless he brings a digging implement … never permit a man to have a “rear” within 100 yards of a water point.’


Captain Good wrote with some authority. His Column operated with 23 Brigade from 10 April to 19 July 1944, in some of the most difficult mountain country in the world. His report notes, with understandable pride:


We started some 400 strong and arrived at Imphal less two officers and 23 ORs. Of these, one officer and five ORs were killed and one officer and six ORs wounded. I think these figures speak for themselves, as the remaining 12 men were the only cases evacuated through illness.


As might be expected, many other Columns had a very different experience, with disease cutting great swathes in their ranks.


In every Chindit’s mind was the fear of being left behind. This was the practice during the first expedition, although efforts might be made to lodge the sick or wounded in a friendly village, if any existed in the immediate area. During the second expedition, in 1944, the practice was to fly out the wounded and sick but, in practice, this was very difficult after the Monsoon broke in mid-May.


This book contains previously unpublished accounts from men unable to continue. They survived, against the odds, by their sheer determination to live. Philip Stibbe’s prologue to Return via Rangoon sums up what it meant to be left behind:


According to my watch it was 10am. I guess the day was 31 March 1943. I suddenly realised that I had been alone for 48 hours, alone in the Burmese jungle somewhere east of the Irrawaddy River and probably further east at that moment than any British soldier on active service. I had practically nothing to eat or drink and I was wounded in the chest … I was not particularly cheerful but at no point during those 48 hours do I remember feeling despondent. I certainly spent some time praying to be given courage to face whatever lay ahead and this was an immense source of help.


Many Chindits refused to give in, even when their worst fears were realised. At the same time, of course, those left behind, with a spare water bottle and extra grenades, knew their chances of survival were virtually zero. Yet, in many cases they ordered their men – or simply told their mates – to leave them.


Fergusson (The Wild Green Earth) recalled the deep sense of deliverance felt by the 30 members of his dispersal party in 1943, having crossed the Chindwin to safety: ‘For the last month we were all quite sure that, if only we got out, nothing on Earth would ever have the power to worry us again.’


Having had the honour to meet many Chindit veterans, over 60 years after these events in their young lives, the author found echoes of that self-assurance. Many men said, in so many words: ‘We felt totally self-confident. We knew nothing we would face in life would ever be as bad as that.’ Certainly, the author’s father had that self-assurance. It remained with him for the rest of his life.


The following pages include some grim reading. Yet those seeking a reason for the resilience of the Chindits might find the answer in the wry humour of the men in the Columns. Captain Jeffrey of the Lancashire Fusiliers (Sunbeams Like Swords) wrote of his Batman’s comments when they were in action at night. The men were in a ditch along a track:


Walker and I were making our usual pilgrimage from the rear of the Column to the front when we suddenly heard a voice from the ditch: ‘Are there any Japs about, Walker?’ Walker turned a grim face in the direction of the voice and said slowly: ‘Yes. Thousands and thousands of them, Sir, and they’re after you!’


RAF Officer W.A. Wilcox, with 23 Brigade’s 76 Column (2nd Duke of Wellington’s Regiment), wrote in a postscript to his book, Chindit Column 76: ‘I apologise to the reader for the monotonous repetition of rain, pain and discomfort. In self defence, I can only assert that it was really so and leave it at that.’ This author can muster a similar defence. These pages reflect the experiences and sufferings of brave men with sufficient goodwill and strength to share many painful memories.




1


AN EXCEPTIONAL MAN …


AN EXTRAORDINARY PERSONALITY


‘Wingate was a strange, excitable, moody creature, but he had fire in him. He could ignite other men.’


Field Marshal Viscount Slim


BRITISH COMMANDERS in the Far East had dismissed Japanese fighting qualities but then suffered humiliating defeats after the Pearl Harbor attack in December 1941. These crushing blows shifted opinion from one extreme to the other. J.P. Cross (Jungle Warfare) wrote that the prevailing view of the Japanese as ‘second rate soldiers’ changed rapidly. Now the enemy were regarded as


… supermen, experts in the jungle in a way never previously imagined, invincible, brave to a degree unsuspected and malignantly cruel in a manner few had ever contemplated modern man could be. They also despised the softness and lack of military endeavour in their enemies. They used the jungle as a conduit of movement; the Allies tried to fight the jungle and the enemy and, to start with, were unsuccessful against both.1


The Japanese soldier’s aggression commanded respect:


They fought with savage and, at times, hysterical fury. They were very brave. If 50 Japanese were holding a position, 45 of them would have to be killed before the rest would kill themselves and the position could be taken.2


Most Allied commanders – General (later, Field Marshal Viscount) Slim included – acknowledged this bravery. Slim commented:


The strength of the Japanese Army lay not in its higher leadership, which, once its career of success had been checked, became confused, nor in its special aptitude for jungle warfare, but in the spirit of the individual Japanese soldier. He fought and marched till he died.3


Yet the Japanese were not invincible. They were poorly organised and had a strange lack of discipline. Cross wrote: ‘Fighting patrols, of about 20 men, were not very skilful. They liked to keep to paths and moved without precaution, often giving their presence away by soldiers talking.’4


Beyond fighting quality the Japanese drew strength from their recognition of the jungle as shelter and shield, rather than a second enemy. The Allies had no choice here: they had to adopt a similar attitude if they were to prevail. This change would take time. Certainly, it came too late to save Burma from conquest in 1942. It would take a truly exceptional man, with an extraordinary personality, to bring such change.


Orde Charles Wingate is by no means unique. Over the centuries many British military leaders of extraordinary quality have emerged to shape the course of events. It is not unusual for such reputations to be built on a combination of eccentricity and ability. Such men tend to make enemies among able yet more conventional men. From the very first, the entire enterprise – the strategic and tactical principles of Long Range Penetration and the fundamentals of what it meant to be a Chindit – belonged to Wingate alone. There were two Chindit expeditions: the Brigade-scale Operation Longcloth in 1943 and the much larger Operation Thursday in 1944. If a fundamental criticism can be levelled at Wingate, it is that LRP and the man became indivisible. He made himself virtually irreplaceable and, in doing so, exposed his force to much abuse after his untimely death in March 1944.
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Eccentricity, ability and vision: Orde Charles Wingate, pictured in the final hours before his death in an air crash. (Trustees of the Imperial War Museum)


Wingate was born at Naini Tal, in the Himalayan foothills, on 26 February 1903. His parents were Plymouth Brethren, a strongly puritanical sect. Colonel Wingate, having returned to England with his family, led a spartan existence. Much of the family income was devoted to missionary causes. The Wingate children received their early education at home, away from other children.


Orde Wingate was a loner at Charterhouse School. He left in 1920 and entered the Royal Military Academy, Woolwich. He sought a commission in the Royal Artillery and joined 5 Medium Brigade. ‘Cousin Rex’ (Sir Reginald Wingate, a former Governor-General of the Sudan and High Commissioner of Egypt) watched over his progress. Presumably, Wingate took his advice; he enrolled at London’s School of Oriental and African Studies.5


When posted to Egypt Wingate sent his luggage ahead, cycled across Europe and joined a ship at Genoa. In 1928 he was posted to the Sudan Defence Force. He was to spend six years in the Sudan. Wingate’s appetite for exotic adventure led to an expedition with camels into the Libyan Desert in early 1933, ostensibly searching for the ‘lost oasis’ of Zerzura. He lived hard on dates, biscuits, cod liver oil and oranges. This foray allowed the 30–year-old Wingate to develop his qualities of leadership and self-discipline.6


Two life-changing events then occurred. During the voyage home from Egypt in March 1933 he met his future wife, Lorna Patterson, who was then just 16. They married on 24 January 1935. The second was his posting to Palestine, as an intelligence officer with 5th Infantry Division. The 1917 Balfour Declaration supported a Jewish National Home in Palestine, but no-one, at that time, could have foreseen the rise of Nazi Germany less than 20 years later and its pitiless persecution of the Jews. Jewish immigration in the wake of the Nuremburg Laws triggered more violence in Palestine. There was much British sympathy for the Arabs, but Wingate held a contrary view; he and Lorna became fervent Zionists.7


Wingate was self-opinionated, entirely free of selfdoubt and a dogged advocate of the Jewish cause. As a young officer he cultivated powerful friends and worked hard – propelled by a genuine empathy – to overcome Jewish suspicions. Slowly, the doubters were converted and his friends included Jewish Agency leader Chaim Weizmann. By early 1937 Wingate was arguing that the Jews should be armed. He then went further, making a dangerous offer to assist in the organisation of an underground Jewish Defence Force.7


Wingate was out of his depth in the circles of high politics. He was a soldier with a sharp political edge to his tongue, yet his strong views radiated from a naive inner conviction, rather than political interest. Wingate was blind to politics at the sophisticated level. Consequently, many regarded him as extremely dangerous – a loose cannon.


The Peel Commission proposed the partition of Palestine into British, Jewish and Arab zones. Arab attacks on Jewish settlements intensified as General (later, Field Marshal Viscount) Wavell took command in Palestine. Wingate even engineered an opportunity to board Wavell’s car, to have a face-to-face opportunity to present his ideas for Jewish night patrols to combat ‘terrorists’.


Wavell’s successor, General Haining, backed Wingate’s ‘Special Night Squads’; they began operating in June 1938. Each man was expected to be able to cover 15 miles of country by night. Each Squad had an Arabic speaker, to help win hearts and minds among local communities and make common cause against the ‘terrorists’. These squads were an outstanding success, although Wingate himself was wounded in a skirmish. These exploits earned him a DSO.8


In late 1938 Wingate was in London, at Weizmann’s request, pressing the Zionist case in the weeks leading up to the publication of another report, from the Woodhead Commission, but this had little effect. The report was negative towards Jewish interests and the Peel recommendation for partition was overturned. Wingate then came to Winston Churchill’s attention at a dinner party in November, when he seized his chance to explain why the Special Night Squads had been so successful. His story fired Churchill’s imagination; Wingate would be remembered. In contrast, Wingate’s relationship with the Army establishment (other than with one or two prominent champions) continued to sour. Back in Jerusalem he found the Night Squads now had a new commander. On the other hand, he continued to gain trust in Jewish circles and became known as ‘The Friend’.9


The first days of war saw Orde Wingate at his London flat, 49 Hill Street, unemployed but with powerful friends. They included Leo Amery (Secretary of State for India and Burma, May 1940–July 1945), who was to be instrumental in creating opportunities for Wingate in Abyssinia and, later, in the Far East. Yet Wingate’s outspoken Zionist views continued to stir resentment and his personality displayed more than a touch of paranoia. On meeting David Ben-Gurion (later to become Israel’s first Prime Minister) in London, he insisted they talk in a car, but not his car!


He was not alone in believing that he and the family were under surveillance. Writing in the early 1960s, Wingate’s mother-in-law, Alice Ivy Hay, claimed:


These apprehensions were not without foundation. In Jerusalem his telephone was tapped and many of his private letters were opened. He did not reject the possibility that recording machines might have been secreted in his apartment, or in his own car, and if ever he had anything important to say to anyone, he preferred to say it in the open – preferably in the middle of a field or open space. In London, his telephone was also tapped (and so was mine in Aberdeen).10


Thousands of men would be drawn to Orde Wingate’s Chindit standard in a new World War. They included Bill Towill, born in 1920 and the elder of two brothers. His father had been wounded and gassed in the Great War, but had recovered sufficiently to run the family farm near Totnes, Devon.


Towill shared something with Wingate: his family environment was also shaped by strict religious belief. Towill’s plans to become a solicitor were frustrated by war. Acting on conscientious grounds, he joined a local RAMC Territorial unit. The 11th Casualty Clearing Station was absorbed into the Regular Army within 72 hours of war being declared. They went to France as part of the British Expeditionary Force (BEF). The unit arrived at the little village of Pernois, near Amiens. The initial months of the ‘Phoney War’ passed quietly, yet there was a sobering reminder of reality nearby: a huge cemetery for thousands slaughtered in the mud of the Somme.


When the storm broke in May 1940, the German Blitzkreig sought to trap the BEF and the French northern armies against the coast. Towill’s medical unit moved into Belgium but soon joined the general retreat towards the sea. Events pushed Bill Towill towards a crisis of conscience:


‘It was the early morning of Friday, 31 May, exactly three weeks after the start of the Blitzkrieg, and we were at a little seaside resort called La Panne, just inside the Belgian border and some 11 miles along the beach from Dunkirk. Much of the BEF had already been evacuated. I came off night duty and found the rest of the unit formed up on the beach. We were told we were about to march off, but volunteers were wanted to stay with the wounded. So, the order was given: ‘Volunteers, one step, forward march. Volunteers stand fast – remainder dismiss!’ Too many men volunteered. The order was given a second time and still too many volunteered. Yet again the order was given and four of my colleagues and I were left. The rest moved off towards Dunkirk and we were joined by 20 volunteers from other medical units in the area. We were now under the command of Major J.L. Lovibond, one of our officers.’


A large casino on the beach served as a hospital, but heavy shelling prompted a move to the underground shelter next door:


‘The beach was under sporadic shellfire. This caused a lot of casualties among those still making their way past us, on to Dunkirk. We stretchered the wounded back to the shelter and gave what help we could. When night fell it became pitch black. We had no light to carry on, except from the flash of bursting shells. Chunks of shrapnel churned up the sand around us but, miraculously, we weren’t hit.


‘At about 2am on Saturday, 1 June, a few of us accompanied the Major into the casino’s huge ground floor room, which had been turned into a morgue. Around the walls, in orderly rows, were laid the bodies of scores of our dead. We had no chance of giving them proper burial. The Major did the best he could by reading the Burial Service over them. In the inky blackness, the only light was from the tiny flashlight the Major used to read from his prayer book. This reflected the light onto the lower half of his face. He came to a quite amazing passage, from Revelations 21: “And God shall wipe away all tears from their eyes; and there shall be no more death, neither sorrow, nor crying, neither shall there be any more pain: for the former things are passed away.”


It would be difficult to over-state the impact of these words, in those circumstances, on a deeply religious 19-year-old lad. The sorrow, pain and death filling all our waking moments during the last three weeks seemed to have eaten into our souls. These great words of hope brought a special uplift to our failing spirits.’


Bill Towill’s future as a Chindit during the second expedition, with 3rd/9th Gurkha Rifles, was determined by the luck of the draw:


‘A couple of hours later the Major called us all together again. The last of our men had long since gone past us and we were quite alone. The Major said the Germans were just down the road and would soon be arriving. There was no need for all of us to be taken prisoner. He put 25 pieces of paper into his hat; each of us would draw one. Eight were numbered. If you drew a number, you stayed and were taken prisoner. If you drew a blank you had the chance to make your way to Dunkirk. Shakily, I put my hand into the hat and withdrew a piece of paper. This very simple act was one of the most important things I have ever done. The whole of the rest of my life depended upon it. Mercifully, I drew a blank.


Those of us free to go set off immediately. We soon reached the flimsy wire fence marking the boundary between Belgium and France; it had been trampled flat by the hordes who had passed over it. From time to time we tried, unsuccessfully, to relaunch boats stranded on the beach. Eventually Dunkirk came into view – it looked like a scene from Dante’s Inferno.


A thick cloud of black smoke from burning oil tanks shrouded the whole area. The beach itself was under constant heavy shellfire, supplemented by bombing and strafing from the air. But what was most fearsome were the Stuka dive-bombers, with their unearthly screaming noise, attacking ships crowded with evacuees and often sinking them, leaving their occupants to almost certain death by drowning.’


Towill’s small group joined the long queue still awaiting evacuation from the Eastern Mole, a timber jetty on the outer side of the eastern breakwater. The back of the queue was at the end of the canal running into the harbour:


‘As I looked down to the canal, on my left, I saw a number of British dead. They all had the same injury – the tops of their skulls had been taken off as if by a can-opener. They seemed to have been caught by an air-burst shell. This was not a healthy place to be.’


As dawn approached, the shelling and strafing intensified and Towill’s group gave up queuing. Back on the beach Towill and the Major dug holes for themselves. At first light they dug themselves out three times when straddled by near misses. Late in the evening the attacks ceased and in that pause men clambered out of their holes in the sand, made their orderly way to the Mole and boarded a ship. It was Sunday, 2 June 1940, and the last day of the evacuation:


‘I had had no sleep at all for three days and nights, so immediately I boarded I was out for the count. I have very few mementoes of the war but treasure a small pewter hip flask with a slip of paper in the Major’s hand which reads: ‘Pte Towill. To commemorate some thirsty hours spent together on Dunkirk Beach, 1 and 2 June 1940. J.L. Lovibond, Major, RAMC.’ That flask has never been filled.’
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Return to the Far East: young Bill Smyly at Officer Training Unit, Mhou, on first commission with the 2nd Gurkhas. (Bill Smyly)


Shortly after Bill Towill’s safe return he was recommended for a Commission. In the Autumn of 1941 he went to India as a Cadet.


Religious belief also played a central role in Bill Smyly’s young life. He was born in 1922 in Peking. His father, a missionary Professor of Medicine, went to China in 1912 and stayed until the Communist takeover in 1949. He then pursued his work in Hong Kong and, subsequently, as a leprologist in Africa. Smyly was the eldest of three boys and the children were sent ‘home’ to school. They lived with their grandparents in County Down. His two brothers were too young for war service but Bill Smyly saw an opportunity to return to the Far East. He was just old enough to be accepted for training in India and he was to take part in both Chindit expeditions:


‘I joined a draft for India in 1939. In China, my parents were interned by the Japanese, but put on the very last Exchange Ship bringing back diplomats. Mother and Dad were both doctors. Two doctors and the ship had no medical staff – perhaps that’s why they were given passage.’


Neville Hogan, born in Rangoon in 1923, was the youngest of four children. His father was Irish and his mother a Karen. Hogan Senior was a shipping company administrator and his wife was a schoolteacher:


‘Our life was comfortably middle class and very pleasant. We socialised with local people and the substantial English community then resident in Rangoon. I attended an English school in the city. Unlike so many other countries in the Far East at that time, racial issues had no significance in our lives. Marriage between couples of different ethnic background was commonplace.’


Hogan wanted to be a marine engineer but chickenpox affected his eyesight. He decided to study civil engineering at university. When war broke out in Europe, in September 1939, he joined the Territorials – the Burma Auxiliary Force:


‘As I was just 16 I was told to try again when I had reached 18. I went back shortly afterwards, armed with my elder brother’s birth certificate. I soon found myself in the Machine Gun Section. We had some old, watercooled Vickers guns.’


[image: image]


To be a Chindit: Neville Hogan used his brother’s birth certificate to join the Burma Auxiliary Force. (Neville Hogan)


Hogan would command a Chindit Recce Platoon during Operation Thursday in 1944.


Howard ‘Bob’ Hobbs had a more modest start in life. He was born in North London in 1922. His father was wounded twice during the Great War, once in the hip and then in the stomach. Hobbs left school at 14 and went to work at electrical engineers Cox & Co. He repaired car magnetos and dynamos until his call-up in 1941, when he joined the RASC. Drafted overseas in 1942, Hobbs was posted to the Indian Army Clerical Corps. He soon became bored and this put him in the frame of mind to volunteer for Wingate’s first expedition: ‘I don’t know why I volunteered. I suppose I wanted excitement. I certainly got it!’


Alec Gibson volunteered for military service. He was born in 1921 and lived in Surbiton, Surrey. As a young man Gibson sought a career in the aircraft industry. When war began he was an apprentice design draughtsman with Hawker Aircraft at Kingston. The firm then scrapped its peacetime apprenticeships and Alec was offered a new job as a fitter. He was happy. He had been paid less than a pound a week as an apprentice and the new job boosted his money fivefold overnight. Nevertheless, he was discontented, as many of his friends had already joined up:
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Posted to India: George Fulton went to the Far East after service with a Field Ambulance Unit in the Western Desert. (George Fulton)


‘Working in the aircraft industry was a “Reserved Occupation”, but I went to the local Recruiting Office and volunteered for the Army. By that time I had moved to a local garage making small components for Hawker Aircraft. I got away with it. I mentioned “fitter” and “garage” but left out the Hawker name.’


Gibson’s first taste of service life was as a Private with the East Surreys. He spent two years on aerodrome and coastal defence: ‘Looking back, we were the first line of defence had the Germans invaded. In that event, we would have been wiped out on the beaches.’


George Fulton wanted to join the Territorials as war loomed but he had other things on his mind. He was born in 1919 and the family lived in Aberdeen, where his father was a porter in the busy fish market. Nineteen-year-old George worked for the Town Council and was courting his future wife, Jean. Two friends at the Council had joined the Territorials, attached to 15th Scottish General Hospital, but Fulton was loath to sacrifice two evenings a week. Nevertheless, he joined his friends in April 1939, his pay being 2/6 a night. He was called up on 1 September 1939, on the eve of war:


‘I attempted to join the Royal Signals but they were full. I ended up at Southampton for basic training with the RAMC. My unit was part of 51st Highland Division. They put up a very stiff fight in France before going into captivity. Fortunately, our detachment was held back. We never went to France.’


Fulton had several close calls of this type. One half of his unit went to the Scottish east coast and the other to the west coast. Fulton went east, to take part in the illfated Norwegian campaign of 1940. Bergen fell as the voyage began and their ship turned back. Only a few weeks later the men were issued with topees, an obvious clue to a warm climate posting:


‘We were about to go to North Africa and I asked to see the Colonel. I had got engaged on 1 September 1939 and had spent my £5 call-up money on an engagement ring. I now requested 24 hours’ leave to get married. Permission granted! Jean and I were married in Aberdeen on 18 June 1940.’


One week later the 15th Scottish General Hospital – a dozen of Aberdeen’s finest doctors, some 20 nurses and nearly 200 men – boarded the Aquitania at Liverpool. In the company of the Queen Mary and Mauretania, they sailed for Egypt. Fulton entered Tobruk fortress with 173rd Field Ambulance, having been transferred in with a small group of replacements: ‘We lost 11 men at Tobruk, then moved to Syria, to join the Australian 11th Infantry Brigade in their fight against Vichy French forces.’ Subsequently, Fulton was posted to India.
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Orde Wingate’s success in Palestine resulted in the award of a DSO. Allen (Burma: The Longest War) noted another consequence: ‘transfer from an area where his pronounced pro-Zionist views were felt to be a political embarrassment, as well as somewhat peculiar in an Army Officer.’11


The march of events and powerful friends positioned Wingate for his next challenge. Italy entered the war in June 1940 and Wingate’s flair for irregular warfare, together with his experience with the Sudan Defence Force, promised a significant role in ejecting the Italians from Abyssinia.


Leo Amery urged Wavell to employ Wingate, who had arrived in Cairo during October 1940. Wingate’s mother-in-law later wrote: ‘Next to leading a Jewish army, the idea of righting the injustice inflicted upon the Emperor of Abyssinia was at that time a project nearer to his heart than any other.’12


Haile Selassie was a rallying point and Wingate formed a close bond with him. He created ‘Gideon Force’, with around 2,000 Sudanese and Abyssinian Regulars, 1,000 Abyssinian guerrillas and a cadre of British officers and NCOs. Sound tactics, fighting prowess and bluff allowed Gideon Force to overcome 36,000 Italian troops with armoured cars, artillery and air support. The defeat of the Italians was achieved by much larger conventional forces; but Wingate had made his contribution and it was he who rode the Emperor’s white horse (at Haile Selassie’s insistence) during the victorious entry into Addis Ababa.11


With Haile Selassie restored, Orde Wingate returned to Cairo in June 1941. He was angry and greatly dissatisfied with his lot, despite his successes. The reasons are complex. Wingate had arrived in Egypt during the third quarter of 1940 with a plan to attack Libya. The concept included much original thinking and his ideas (including the use of remote bases and air supply) were applied later in a very different theatre of war. Wingate still smarted from GHQ’s rejection of his Libyan proposals, his cold reception in Cairo after recent triumphs and his reduction in rank to Major. These negatives dominated his mood, rather than the satisfaction which should have been drawn from a highly positive outcome in Abyssinia and the earlier outstanding success in Palestine. Haile Selassie had entered Addis Ababa on 5 May 1941. Rooney (Wingate and the Chindits) wrote:


In the Ethiopian campaign over 200,000 Italian troops were defeated by the five Commonwealth Divisions which operated from Eritrea and Kenya, but Wingate, with about two Battalions, grabbed the limelight for his brilliant work with Gideon Force.13


Wingate was to remain frustrated. The Army establishment disliked his methods, strident attitude and open commitment to Zionism. Wingate, for his part, was openly intolerant of opposition. He dwelt on the loss of the Special Night Squads, rejection of the Libyan plan and the break up of Gideon Force. Requests for an immediate return to active service were rejected. Wingate then overreached himself in a report peppered with intemperate language. This report, significantly, referred to his concept of ‘Long Range Penetration’, but one comment, in particular, caused grave offence. He wrote that the decision to disband Gideon Force was the mark of a ‘military ape’.
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The Emperor restored: Haile Selassie and Orde Wingate formed a close bond. (Trustees of the Imperial War Museum)


Wingate’s depression was aggravated by severe malaria and large, unsupervised doses of the suppressant Atabrin. This precursor to Mepacrine was known to amplify depression, potentially to the point of suicide. During the afternoon of 4 July 1941, Wingate had a temperature of 104°. He left his hotel in search of the local doctor. Finding the doctor absent, he returned to his room and attempted suicide. He took a revolver, put it to his head and pulled the trigger. It misfired. He then stabbed himself in the neck. Some accounts claim that an officer in the next room heard a noise and responded; others state that an hotel employee opened the door. In any event, Wingate was rushed to hospital.14


George Fulton kept a secret throughout his service with the Chindits over two years later, as a Medical Orderly with 14 Brigade. Fulton had been in Cairo on 4 July 1941. He was in his billet at the 15th Scottish General Hospital that afternoon. His Sergeant-Major opened the door and told him to prepare to nurse an officer who had attempted suicide:


‘I was to report to the Officers’ Ward at 6pm to begin “special nursing” – one patient, one Orderly. I did nearly three weeks of night duty, 6pm to 6am, looking after Orde Wingate, who was to be my Chindit chief in Burma.’


Entering the ward on that first evening, Fulton found Wingate unconscious following an operation. The patient’s neck was heavily bandaged:


‘When he came to, he found everyone was from Aberdeen, where his wife came from. We got on very well. One of the first things he asked for was some soda water. We had none but, later, I managed to get a few bottles for him. His dressings were changed during the day, but I gathered that the main wound was to the left side of the neck. He had missed the main artery. We chatted a lot as the days passed, although his mood was very quiet and sombre.


‘At one point, when off duty, I went to the cinema and watched Haile Selassie restored as Emperor of Ethiopia on Movietone News. I mentioned this to Wingate and he replied: “That was lots of fun.” He then said: “I want to show you something.” He pulled three items out of his kit. I can remember two. There was a set of four interlocked gold rings, about 1¼ in. in diameter, presented to him by Haile Selassie. He then showed me another gift. It was the most beautiful gold watch. I remember it had Westminster Chimes. On the back was an engraved representation of the Lion of Judah, wearing his crown, with diamonds, rubies and other precious stones. Throughout my service in India and Burma, I never told anyone I had nursed Wingate in Egypt. I had hoped to meet him again but never did.’


Over 20 years later, in 1963, Alice Hay wrote of her son-in-law:


I am convinced that Orde committed this act when he did not know what he was doing. If he had been fully conscious, he would not have bungled it so badly, for he was the most efficient man I ever knew at carrying through any job he undertook. I am equally certain that in no circumstances would he ever again have attempted to take his life.15


Wingate was fortunate. His psychologist understood the potentially catastrophic side-effects of Atabrin. On 22 July he declared him fit and ready to convalesce. Wingate sailed for England in September.


A Medical Board approved his regrading for active service after three months. With encouragement from his family, Wingate now rewrote his report on Abyssinia. Leo Amery and Cousin Rex helped him and the paper was circulated to people of influence. One copy reached Churchill. Lobbying activities tended to further inflame Wingate’s detractors. Rooney wrote: ‘His attempted suicide became a cause célèbre in Cairo and beyond … the devotion of those who supported him was matched only by the viciousness of those who opposed him.’14


There were times when Orde Wingate’s every action seemed to offend. He remains famous for his eccentricities and there are many stories of his odd behaviour. Some are true. The author’s father talked of Wingate’s passion for onions. When addressing troops he had the habit of drawing a raw onion from his pocket and munching it, praising its life-giving qualities. Many men have such memories. Sergeant Tony Aubrey of The King’s (Liverpool) concluded that Wingate’s faith in onions was well-placed:


While we were within reach of base, sacks of them used always to be available. A dixieful was continually simmering on the fire of my Platoon at night and, even if no-one else happened to feel onionminded, I used to make a pretty good hole in the contents myself before going to sleep. Most of the men joined me after a day or two, though, and I can highly recommend a pound or two of boiled onions as a sleeping draught. We ate so many of them, raw and cooked, that sometimes I used to feel sorry for anyone who didn’t care for them.16


Perhaps more disconcerting for the uninitiated was Wingate’s habit of receiving officers and giving orders while naked. He tended to make his point in unforgettable ways. During training, apparently, Wingate came across a group of unarmed officers. Incensed at their defenceless condition, he drew his revolver, fired over their heads and told them to put their hands up. On another occasion, when a stream suddenly became a Monsoon torrent, Wingate swam to the group of officers expected at his Headquarters and promptly ordered them to swim back with him.17


Orde Wingate may have been declared fit after Cairo but his Army career required rescue at the highest level. Wavell intervened once again, encouraged by Amery. The outcome was a posting to the Far East. Wingate was far from grateful – he felt he was being sidelined and repeated the mistake of venting his feelings on paper. A vitriolic memorandum gave his growing body of enemies fresh ammunition.14 The Far East, nonetheless, would provide fertile ground for Wingate’s original mind and highly unorthodox approach to modern warfare.


Many regarded Wingate’s Far East posting as a good solution all round, but his mother-in-law, Alice Hay (another passionate Zionist), shared his distaste. This was a digression from Wingate’s raison d’être, the promotion of the Jewish cause. Summing up Wingate’s own reaction, she commented: ‘He felt it was a great waste of his experience to send him to a part of the world that he neither knew nor, indeed, particularly wanted to know. He was right. He should never have been sent to Burma at all; he should have been allowed to continue to operate in the Middle East.’ Perhaps, however, the true measure of Orde Wingate’s greatness is that he put aside deeply entrenched personal frustrations and set to work, developing his concept of Long Range Penetration and bringing it to its ultimate flowering in a Burmese setting.18


Yet there remained a heavy measure of discomfort in Wingate’s relationships. Alice Hay painted a picture of a man with virtually every military and political hand set against him. On arriving in the Far East he expected opposition from every quarter and, in consequence, over-compensated – believing he had no choice if resistance was to be overcome.
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The British had suffered a catastrophic defeat in Burma during 1942. The Japanese proved unstoppable and British forces were pushed across the Chindwin and into India. No-one felt the pain more than Neville Hogan; his country was swallowed by the Japanese. Hogan had been content with life before war came. Things tended to go his way and he had already achieved one ambition:


‘I had always wanted to drive a Rolls-Royce. There were only five in Burma and one belonged to the Governor. The other four were Burma Auxiliary Force armoured cars, dating back to the early 1920s or even earlier. I soon got my wish, even if my Rolls-Royce had solid tyres and had seen better days.’


News of the Japanese attack on Pearl Harbor on 7 December 1941 came during Annual Camp:


‘We were “embodied” immediately and despatched as a perimeter defence unit for Mingaladon, near Rangoon, the biggest of Burma’s two main airfields. The Japanese bombed it on 24 December.’


Hogan watched, frozen in amazement, as a stick of bombs fell neatly between the detachment’s four armoured cars and a huge dump of petrol cans. The only damage was a slight dent to one car, caused by shrapnel. A few weeks later they were ordered south to Moulmein. Information about the Japanese advance was scanty and they ran into an ambush nine miles north of their objective. The road was protected against Monsoon floods by high bunds. The enemy had selected a suitable bend and had blocked the road by felling a tree:


‘I was driving the lead car when we rounded that bend. I saw four or five Japs firing at us. Our officer opened up with the Vickers. Each car had a crew of four but we had a passenger – a young British Gurkha officer who had been entrusted with a secret message, to be delivered in person. We weren’t closed up for action and bullets went through our hatches and sprayed around inside the car. We were all hit, our passenger suffering a fatal wound. He was shot in the stomach and one look was quite enough to realise that there was no hope. I watched, mesmerised, as he put the sheet of paper bearing the message into his mouth and chewed it as he died.’


Neville Hogan received a bullet through his right leg and the others had various wounds. Fortunately, they avoided capture. Hogan was pleased to discover that the bullet had passed cleanly through his calf muscle, without hitting bone. Having evaded the Japanese at the roadblock they began the long trek from Southern Burma to Mandalay and then on towards the Chindwin. Hogan and his companions crossed this huge river and faced the final challenge – walking over the hills to the Tamu-Imphal area: ‘I was more frightened of bumping into the Chinese than the Japs. The Chinese would kill you just to get their hands on a weapon.’


The Japanese completed their conquest of Burma by June 1942, stopping on the very borders of India. Hogan had escaped despite being wounded a second time while crossing the Sittang river. The Sittang Bridge was the scene of a major battle:


‘We were on the east bank when the Japs came down the hill to attack us. This was my first experience of hand-to-hand fighting. The bridge was blown during the morning of 23 February and we were still on the east side. All we had between us were sidearms and around 20 rounds of .45 ammunition each.


‘We scrounged some wood and began making rafts for the Gurkhas – all of whom couldn’t swim – and some British non-swimmers. The river was up to 1,000 yards wide. I managed to swim across but many Gurkhas drowned; they refused to leave behind their rifles and steel helmets. During the crossing a mortar bomb exploded near me. Shrapnel hit me in the thigh, once again in the right leg. It felt as though I had been kicked.’


Hogan and his party made a rather exotic group:


‘My four friends consisted of an Englishman, a Scot, a Jewish lad and ‘Texas’, a Persian crazy about America and cowboys. Our cowboy was always pretending to ‘draw’, like his heroes. Unfortunately, during his first action a bullet struck his weapon and took off the first digit of his trigger finger. He then began to practice drawing from the left. I warned him that, if he carried on, he’d probably get that trigger finger shot off, too.’


The five men were starving by the time they neared the Chindwin in May. During a halt under a tree, the Jewish soldier, ‘Shamack’, asked each of his comrades if they had anything to eat. Everyone said no. He then turned to Hogan again and asked for an aspirin. Hogan asked him if he had a headache. Shamack said no, adding: ‘but I must have something to eat.’ Despite their desperate condition they all dissolved into laughter: ‘That remark kept us going. We used to say to each other: ‘Has anyone got an aspirin for Shamack?’


Neville Hogan got out but many men succumbed when Burma was overrun in 1942. On reaching safety Hogan found he had exchanged one nightmare for another:


‘No-one wanted to know us. We had no pay books and no papers to prove we were members of the Rangoon Battalion of the Burma Auxiliary Force. When we reached Calcutta we were out of money and ideas. We pleaded for recognition, adding that we had all been wounded. Finally, someone listened. We were given clothes and rail warrants to Jhansi, where Burma Auxiliary Force survivors were concentrating. Subsequently, a new force was established, known as the Burma Intelligence Corps.’


Hogan’s qualities won him rapid recognition. He was promoted to Captain and, later, Major, despite his tender years.


In the aftermath of the 1942 debacle General Wavell was receptive to new ideas. Orde Wingate was in his thoughts. He had supported Wingate following the Cairo suicide attempt. He was impressed by the successes of Gideon Force and Wingate’s earlier achievements in Palestine. Given the virtual collapse of British Army morale in the Far East, Wavell had nothing to lose. He invited Wingate to present ideas for a reversal of fortunes.11


Unfortunately, Wingate was still dogged by a belief that he had been wronged. A diary entry for 19 February1942 – just a few weeks before he arrived in the Far East – conveys his despondency and bitterness:


The Commander of the Patriot Forces in the most successful campaign we have had in this war is, for political reasons, reduced to Major from full Colonel at its close … he writes a report considered important enough to be read by several members of the Cabinet, evolving a new theory of modern war and asking leave to apply it on some scale, however modest. His report, although in the hands of the War Office, is ignored by that establishment. He is not asked to see a solitary Staff Officer. Finally, immediately after his being noticed as still interesting himself in the affairs of Ethiopia, he is ordered away to a job derogatory to his military qualifications and seniority, in an artillery regiment …19


Wingate’s arrival, in March 1942, came too late to have any material effect on the Japanese advance through Burma. He had time, however, to develop ideas for countering enemy battle tactics. Wingate, now a full Colonel, saw how Japanese flanking and blocking tactics had disastrous consequences for all opponents relying on roads and conventional lines of communication. He then saw that air-dropped supplies could overcome this weakness. Allen wrote:


At one stroke this destroyed the soldier’s dependence on a land line of communication. He could have everything, food, water, post, mules, jeeps, guns, ferried through the skies to wherever he happened to be. The only requisite was an efficient wireless system to signal dropping points with accuracy. With this advantage, Wingate saw that a force penetrating Japanese-held territory, to disrupt lines of communication, ‘would achieve results out of all proportion to its size.’20


Orde Wingate’s rapidly developing LRP ideas found a receptive mind in Major (later, Brigadier) Michael Calvert, then resident at Maymyo Bush Warfare School. They were kindred spirits. On returning to Delhi, Wingate then sought to persuade Wavell. He was a master at selling an idea. Slim wrote:


Wingate was a strange, excitable, moody creature, but he had fire in him. He could ignite other men. When he so fiercely advocated some project of his own, you might catch his enthusiasm or you might see palpable flaws in his arguments; you might be angry at his arrogance or outraged at so obvious a belief in the end, his end, justifying any means; but you could not be indifferent.21


The vulnerability of Japanese lines of communication in Burma was central to Wingate’s plan. Future Chindit Column and Brigade Commander Bernard Fergusson said Wingate saw that a small force behind the lines ‘could wreak havoc out of all proportion to its numbers.’ If surprised it could disperse, evade pursuers and come together at an agreed rendezvous. Wingate appreciated the true significance of two innovations: air supply and wireless communications. He concluded that they had yet to be fully exploited. Fergusson added: ‘His proposal was to cut the enemy’s supply line, destroy his dumps, tie up troops unprofitably far behind the line, in the endeavour to protect these vulnerable areas, and generally help the Army proper on to its objectives.’22


A training centre for LRP troops was established near Gwalior, in the Central Provinces, during August 1942. Wingate would command this force, 77 Indian Infantry Brigade, and he would now have the chance to prove his theories. Michael Calvert (Fighting Mad) wrote:


Whatever anyone thought of Wingate and his methods, I don’t think his sincerity was ever questioned. He was flat out to beat the Japs; that was the task in hand and everything was subservient to it.


He was not concerned if some of the things he did were unpopular: his only yardstick was whether they were necessary. This attitude was not everyone’s cup of tea and perhaps it is not surprising that he made enemies. But I never blamed him for the way he acted, for I knew that at heart he was the most understanding of men. He believed that the way to beat the Japs was to be tougher than they were and he drove himself relentlessly, as well as everyone else, to prove this. He could be very morose and depressed, but he would allow only his close friends to see his distress. I think these dark moods came from the strain that he built up inside himself; yet he would never relax his self-imposed disciplines. The tragedy is that he never lived to see the result of his personal sacrifices.23


Events in this theatre of war now offered the promise of a brighter future, following the dark days of 1942. Wingate’s proposals were accepted. Furthermore, the first USAAF personnel had been in India for some months. Arriving in March 1942, these pioneers went on to establish Tenth Air Force, responsible for air supply flights over the Himalayas (‘The Hump’) and progressing an air campaign against the Japanese in Burma. US Army Engineers began constructing the Ledo Road out of India in December 1942. The aim was to link up with the Burma Road. The plan was to complete the 103 miles to Shingbwiyang by June 1943. The Ledo Road, however, had only reached the 83-mile marker by October 1943 – a measure of the Japanese Army’s stubborn hold on Burma.24
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The pieces fell into place for Wingate and his first expedition, Operation Longcloth. His future Chindits – with the exception of Calvert – had no inkling of what lay before them. Bill Smyly, meanwhile, had got his wish. He was back in the Far East, having been commissioned in the 2nd Gurkha Rifles. Jungle warfare was the very last thing on his mind:


‘I was thrilled with the whole thing, including Dehra Dun, in the Himalayan foothills. Most Saturdays I danced, or, rather, learned to dance, with the Colonel’s daughter, Jean Fell, 14.’


Having passed the obligatory language examination, Smyly was posted to the Regiment’s 3rd Battalion, destined for Wingate’s expedition. As a Brigade, the Longcloth force was rather small: two Battalions of infantry (one British and one Gurkha), a Battalion of The Burma Rifles (Burrifs) and specialised units, including the essential engineering expertise. The force was organised into eight Columns, each of around 400 men. Later, 6 Column was broken up during training, to bring the others up to strength as the unfit were weeded out. The Burrifs were distributed among the seven Columns. Bill Smyly:


‘The Infantry Companies, the heart of each Column, were either British or Gurkha: 13th King’s and 3rd/2nd Gurkhas, one Rifle Company to each Column. The transport Muleteers in all Columns were young Gurkhas, a special draft of ‘Burma Gurkhas’ from the 10th Gurkha Rifles.’


Wingate made a vivid first impression on virtually everyone he met. Smyly, who rapidly developed his own reputation as a highly effective Animal Transport Officer, was no exception:


‘Wingate was inscrutable and didn’t aim to charm! His tactic was to shock or impress but, that aside, it was clear he was on the ball. During training I remember going down the line, checking the mules. I had a habit of starting at the head and moving my hand down the neck to the withers. If there was a shiver on the withers he was tender and likely to gall. I was doing this when I felt there was someone standing behind me and looked round. It was Wingate: “How are they?” “A bit tender. No galls so far.”


‘As for LRP, we were told we were going to disrupt Jap communications in Burma, but it was not really clear what we were going to do. We would blow up bridges and cut railway lines but it all sounded a bit ad hoc. Any request for more detailed information was brushed aside on security grounds: ‘It will all become clear once you are in.’ It never was!’


Bill Towill had experienced the full horror and human loss of defeat in France but had a gentle introduction to service life in the Far East. Later, however, he took part in the vicious Arakan campaign and served with the Chindits. Towill arrived in Bombay in 1941 and attended the Indian Military Academy at Dehra Dun – the Indian Sandhurst:


‘We were housed in beautifully appointed marquees, two to each marquee. The cadet sharing with me was Peter Whitehouse. He was a few years older than me and during his time at Oxford had won no less than four ‘Blues’, a quite remarkable record. Yet, though he was such an outstanding sportsman, he was quite unassuming and we got on famously. He was also a keen Christian, so on Sunday we decided to go to the cantonment church for the morning service. Afterwards we were greeted by two officers from the 9th Gurkha Rifles’ regimental centre, just up the hill at a place called Birpur. We were also warmly welcomed by a lovely lady, Mrs Wise, who invited us to afternoon tea. This became a regular Sunday afternoon fixture for Peter and myself and another cadet, John Pearson, whom we had met at the church. Mrs Wise had three daughters and the two eldest, Pamela and Patricia, were just about to go off to Simla for finishing school. Little did I know then that Pamela was to become my wife. We are still together after more than 60 years of marriage!’


Life was sweet at the Academy:


‘We enjoyed wonderful food and well-appointed tables, with sparkling silverware and crisp napkins. This environment was entirely free of snobbery. I enjoyed it immensely, despite being pushed very hard. This was a condensed course of just four months, rather than the more usual 18 months. When we came to the end, Peter desperately wanted me to go with him to the Rajputana Rifles, a famous Indian regiment with which he had family connections; but I had fallen under the spell of the Gurkhas and opted for the 9th Gurkha Rifles. So Peter and I had a last wonderful holiday together in Kashmir, where we stayed on a houseboat on Dal Lake. At Rawalpindi we said goodbye to each other and I never saw him again. He was killed in action serving with the 1st Battalion of his regiment in Italy. What a terrible, terrible waste of what would almost certainly have been a marvellous life.’


In common with Neville Hogan, 2nd Lieutenant (later, Major) Towill saw some hard fighting before crossing Wingate’s path:


‘I did not follow the usual course for newly commissioned officers. I was not sent to the regimental centre, to be indoctrinated into the ways of the regiment, but went direct to the 3rd Battalion at a place called Jhikargacha Ghat. This was on the main railway line into Calcutta. We were brigaded with the 6th/11th Sikhs and 8th/8th Punjabis, to form the 4th Indian Infantry Brigade, part of 26th Division. It was easy to get into Calcutta for weekend leaves, so I took the earliest opportunity of calling at the address which Mrs Wise had given us, that to which she was shortly returning from Dehra Dun.


‘I received a tremendous welcome from Mr and Mrs Wise and they wouldn’t hear of me booking into a hotel but put up a bed for me on the veranda. It was a great delight to enjoy their hospitality on many occasions. Mr Wise was a Senior Director with Andrew Yule, a huge firm of managing agents, and, as such, managed all the affairs in India of an American oil company, Veedol Oil. The Wises were exceedingly hospitable, the dinner table was always laid for 12 and servicemen and women, regardless of rank, came in and filled the places, often without giving advance notice. There usually followed a sing-song around the piano and a surprising amount of talent was displayed.’


Bill Towill was sent on a driving and maintenance course in early 1943. On returning in March he found the Battalion, together with the rest of the Division, had gone into the Arakan. On reaching Brigade HQ he reported to his Colonel, Robbie Fawcett, who had bad news for Towill. Having achieved a course distinction, he had been ordered back as an instructor! Towill protested. Fawcett helped him to evade this unwanted posting but then sent him to Brigade HQ as Orderly Officer. He was also in charge of the HQ Defence Platoon:


‘We were in the ‘Tunnels’ area and over the next couple of days moved south to contact the enemy. It was blisteringly hot. The sun drilled down on us from above and, with equal force, was reflected back from the whitish sand and stony ground over which we marched. I was to the rear of the Brigadier, in the recognised Gunga Din position – four paces right flank rear. He, Brigadier Hungerford, was a wonderful old gentleman but in his early forties and extremely ancient! As we were virtually grilled alive, I could see him gradually crumpling up.


‘The Brigade had various brushes with the Japs, inflicting several casualties and receiving some ourselves, but it soon became clear that one of our problems, in urgent need of attention, was fire control. We had to avoid the temptation, when the Japs came screaming at our positions at night, just to loose off at them indiscriminately and in great volume, rather than firing only at a target actually seen.


‘At one place I got the Defence Platoon in position for the night and warned them strictly about fire control. These orders were not easy to obey when unprotected by wire. In a dash of a very few yards, the enemy could be right in among us. But when the Japs came that night, screaming, shouting and firing, the volume of fire we loosed off in return was horrendous. There was, as I saw it, only one thing to do. Each offender I spotted received an enormous kick in the backside. My men came to fear me more than the Japs and, gradually, we got things under control. Looking back, I think I was extremely lucky not to have stopped a bullet.


‘One of our officers, Major Frank Gerald “Jimmy” Blaker, won an outstanding MC in the Arakan. We were at a place called Taung Bazaar and a villager told Jimmy that there were about 50 Japs resting up in a nullah half a mile away. Taking two Platoons, Jimmy approached with extreme caution, took them by surprise, chased them for two miles, killed 16 and captured three, including an officer – the first to be captured in the Arakan – for the loss of two killed (one by a sword stroke) and a few lightly wounded. At that time there was so little good news from the front that Jimmy’s exploit spread wide and proved a great morale booster.


‘The real objective in the Arakan was to improve our supply lines by capturing Akyab, the only good port between Chittagong and Rangoon. In front of Akyab, however, the Japs had a line of very strong bunkered positions at Donbaik. When our Brigadier was evacuated sick, A.W. “Bill” Lowther took his place. He had commanded a Punjabi Battalion which had taken part in an attack on Donbaik. With great courage they had managed to get on top of one of the enemy strongpoints, only to be met by horrendous fire from adjoining positions. In less than half an hour Bill Lowther lost nearly half his Battalion. When he became our Brigadier he talked about this awful experience.


‘In the Arakan we were forced back further than the line from which we had started and the Tunnels area, on the Maungdaw/Buthidaung road, with its splendid shelter, was converted by the Japs into a formidable defensive position, which was later to prove exceptionally difficult to recapture.’
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Alec Gibson had been recommended for a commission but OCTUs in Britain were over-subscribed. He and several others in his Battalion had the chance to attend OTU in India. Gibson went to the Far East and was commissioned into the Indian Army. In early January 1943 Indian Army units received a ‘round-robin’ calling for young officers surplus to requirements. No-one knew why they were wanted, but it had been realised that Wingate’s Longcloth venture offered an ideal opportunity to train a relatively large number of junior officers as Platoon leaders. Typically, a Gurkha Company would be commanded by a Captain, assisted by one or more young British officers. The decision to draw in more junior officers for Longcloth was made at the last minute. One consequence was 2nd Lieutenant (later, Captain) Alec Gibson’s immediate posting from 8th Gurkha Rifles Headquarters, Quetta, to Jhansi.


Gibson was accompanied by Harold James and Ian MacHorton (later to write a remarkable account of his survival, on being wounded and left behind during Longcloth). The three were posted to 3rd/2nd Gurkha Rifles. When they called on the Transport Officer at Jhansi, they were not encouraged by his off-hand comment: ‘Oh! You’re going to that lot in the jungle.’ Alec Gibson became Cypher Officer with 3 Column during Operation Longcloth.


2nd Lieutenant MacHorton, meanwhile, was among those struck by Wingate’s strange behaviour. During his jungle training he saw Wingate walking around holding a large, ticking alarm clock – presumably to remind everyone that there was no time to waste.25


Clearly, Wingate was a special man. The renowned explorer Wilfred Thesiger, who served with Wingate in Abyssinia, wrote with great perception and frankness about Wingate and his character. He described him as ‘ruthlessly ambitious’ and an ‘idealist and a fanatic’. He also referred to Wingate’s ‘ungovernable temper’. Yet, on one occasion, Thesiger caught a glimpse of Wingate’s true self:


Personally, I was fortunate in my relationship with Wingate and he was never rude to me. Yet only once did I get past his self-imposed barrier. The two of us were sitting on a rock looking across a great sweep of mountain. Unexpectedly, he relaxed and began to talk. He told me of his stern, puritanical upbringing, his unhappy days at school, his unpopularity at Woolwich, his passion for fox-hunting and steeple-chasing and his dedication to Zionism. I asked him why he became a Zionist, not being a Jew. He answered that his interest in the Jews dated from his prep school, where he had been mercilessly bullied and the boys had organised what they called ‘Wingate hunts’. He had been brought up on the Bible by devout parents and in those unhappy schooldays had found in the Old Testament a people who never gave in, though every man’s hand was against them. He had accordingly identified them with himself. Perhaps in those early days Wingate’s character had been permanently warped; yet, perhaps, it had been tempered too, and made resolute.26


Thesiger was in a good position to appreciate the meaning of Wingate’s references to the bullying he had suffered. He referred to his own ‘hurtful rejection’ on arriving at prep school as a young boy, fresh from Abyssinia and entering ‘an alien English world’.27
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OPERATION LONGCLOTH: AN EXPERIMENT


IN CHINDIT WARFARE


Though they were to undertake an unprecedented operation, the men of 77 Indian Infantry Brigade were ordinary soldiers … only the men of 142 Commando Company and the men of the Bush Warfare School in Burma could be called dedicated Special Forces.


William Fowler, We Gave Our Today


THE EVOLUTION of jungle fighting in Burma had a certain logic to it. Major Michael Calvert took a central role. He was a master of irregular warfare and extremely aggressive in his approach to combat in any environment. Earlier in the war he was a Demolitions Instructor at Lochailort Commando Training School, Scotland. He found a soulmate in Freddie Spencer Chapman, author of The jungle is neutral, who was in charge of fieldcraft training at Lochailort. Both were posted to Australia in October 1940 to join the newly-established Infantry Training Centre at Wilson’s Promontory, south of Melbourne.


Calvert later said that the fieldcraft skills shared by Chapman saved his life on several occasions in Burma. Rooney (Mad Mike) wrote:


He cited, in particular, training his eye to recognise a good spot for an ambush – whether to set one up or to avoid an enemy ambush – and, equally important, to listen and understand the noises of the jungle, especially the sign of danger when all animal noises fall silent.1


Calvert outlined the fundamentals set out by Freddie Spencer Chapman:


The first big lesson he taught me was always to be on the lookout for the likely ambush spot, such as the piece of rising ground ahead covered with rocks or trees or high undergrowth … this had to be an automatic task, as the eyes took in the surroundings at any given moment. The second lesson … which saved my life more than once, was that birds stopped singing, and most other wild animals also became quiet and still, when human beings were near them.


A 1943 Indian Army Manual defined three types of jungle:


‘Thin’: jungle in which a man can move at a fair pace by picking his way.


‘Thick’: jungle a man can force his way through with the aid of a stick, without cutting.


‘Dense’: jungle so thick that cutting a way is essential.2


Jungle is often defined as ‘primary’ (vegetation in its original state) and ‘secondary’ (jungle cleared and regenerated). According to Cross, jungle combat


… is the nearest to night fighting that troops will get during daylight. In primary jungle visibility is usually limited to 20–30 yards. Foliage on the hilltops is relatively thin, compared to the extremely dense jungle in the valleys.2


Michael Calvert became an expert jungle fighter. In August 1941 he was posted as Chief Instructor at the Bush Warfare School, Maymyo, Burma. He was to train instructors for Chiang Kai-shek’s Chinese. This ended with the Japanese invasion of Burma in January 1942. Rangoon fell on 8 March, Lashio on 29 April and Mandalay on 1 May. Myitkyina fell a week later.3


The Japanese were nearing Maymyo in late April. Calvert took a small force to hold the Gokteik Viaduct, a vital crossing on the Mandalay-Lashio road. Later, he sought permission to blow the viaduct but was refused. Subsequently, he was shocked when Lieutenant General (later, Field Marshal, Lord) Alexander expressed disappointment at his ‘failure’ to destroy it. Calvert reminded him that he had been refused permission. Alexander replied that sensitivities had precluded official approval but he had thought it likely that Calvert, of all people, would disobey orders and blow it anyway!
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Calvert participated in a deception allowing the Japanese to ‘capture’ secret documents in a staff car deliberately driven into enemy positions. The aim was to persuade the Japanese to make inappropriate troop deployments. The car was abandoned under fire. Calvert’s group clashed with the Japanese and then dispersed. Calvert and two companions eventually reached the Chindwin. They were in a very poor state and received help from a party of Indian refugees. They reached safety disguised as women, dressed in saris.4 During these adventures Calvert shrank from over 12 stone to less than eight stone.


Other exploits included a foray involving around 70 men from the Bush Warfare School. They commandeered a river steamer and set out to kill Japanese.3 Such obvious eagerness to get to grips with the enemy attracted Orde Wingate’s attention. After initial discussions at Maymyo, he summoned Calvert to Delhi to discuss a possible Long Range Penetration (LRP) operation in Burma during early 1943.


By August 1942 Calvert and Wingate were together at Gwalior, the newly established LRP training camp south of Delhi. They had much in common. Calvert’s battle experience ranged from Shanghai to Norway. He also had the experience gained in Burma earlier in the year. Wingate’s unpopularity was of no importance to Calvert and later, he would share in the consequences.5


Wavell and Wingate agreed that a Brigade-scale LRP expedition, Operation Longcloth, would attack Japanese lines of communication and attempt to force the enemy to withdraw units from the front.6 Two British offensives were planned for 1943. The first was an attempt to seize the port of Akyab, in the Arakan, and ended in failure.7 Longcloth was part of the second: an incursion into enemy territory coinciding with a push into Northern Burma by IV Corps from Imphal, Stilwell’s Chinese from Ledo and Chinese forces from Yunnan. Wingate’s 77 Indian Infantry Brigade would consist of the 13th King’s Regiment (Liverpool) (The King’s), the 3rd/2nd Gurkha Rifles (2 GR), 142 Commando and a unit of 2nd Burma Rifles (Burrifs), together with Signals, RAF detachments and HQ. The Brigade, totalling some 3,000 men, would penetrate the Japanese front, march some 200 miles towards Indaw and cut enemy lines of communication, attacking roads, railways, bridges and supply dumps.8


This Brigade was organised into eight Columns, broadly four British and four Gurkha. Each Column had three Infantry Platoons, a Support Platoon with mortars and Vickers machine guns and a Commando Platoon of sappers and infantry, for demolition tasks. There was also a Reconnaissance (Recce) Platoon of two officers and around 45 Burrifs. Fowler (We Gave Our Today) wrote: ‘Though they were to undertake an unprecedented operation, the men of 77 Indian Infantry Brigade were ordinary soldiers … only the men of 142 Commando Company and the men of the Bush Warfare School in Burma could be called dedicated Special Forces.’9


Each man now faced an extraordinary challenge. The harsh training reflected the many hardships and suffering ahead. Weaknesses were soon exposed. The King’s had a higher than normal percentage of older men. Allen made a blunt comment:


He (Wingate) was given a British Battalion which, on the surface, could hardly have been worse suited to the task he had in mind. This was the 13th King’s (Liverpool). They had been on coastal defence duties in England before being drafted out to serve as garrisons in India. They were city-bred men, not only from Liverpool but from Glasgow and Manchester; most of them were married and many were over 30.10


The King’s were at Secunderabad, on garrison duty, when the prospect of jungle fighting reared its head. Philip Stibbe, in Return via Rangoon, reflected wryly: ‘Life there was enjoyable. All this would probably have gone on indefinitely had it not been for Brigadier Wingate.’11


The Brigadier relished a challenge. In his view any unit could be trained to meet the extraordinary LRP standards of fitness. Early on, this claim looked precarious. Large numbers of King’s soldiers went sick. At one stage 70 per cent were absent from duty! Wingate’s confidence seemed misplaced but as training continued the Battalion was transformed. The men became fit and hard. The Gurkhas, meanwhile, presented other challenges – especially a lack of enthusiasm for river crossings. The importance of this training became apparent in August 1942, when a Monsoon cloudburst flooded their jungle camp and the nearby river rose 30 ft. According to Rooney, Wingate and Calvert were among those who had to swim for it.5


The ‘shake-out’ of personnel was ruthless. At one point the King’s strength fell from around 650 to 400 and 2 GR from 750 to 500. Inevitably, inexperienced men filled the gaps.6


Sickness rates soared in the incessant rain. Sick men leaving the King’s were the envy of the others. Philip Stibbe wrote: ‘Colonel Robinson, who regarded the chance of going into Burma with Wingate as the most wonderful luck, was horrified and genuinely mystified by this attitude.’ Robinson called a parade and gave everyone a piece of his mind. As far as he was concerned, the unfit were not ‘lucky blighters’ but ‘poor devils’. Ironically, Wingate later decided Robinson was too old to go in.12


As for the high proportion of city men, Bernard Fergusson, who was to lead 5 Column, made a comment supporting Wingate’s belief in the ability to train any unit for LRP: ‘it is a fact that, in jungle warfare, the countryman has no advantage over the townsman after the first week of training.’13
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Men responded differently to the jungle environment. Bob Hobbs did well, building on his reputation as a crack shot. He was made up to Sergeant before Longcloth began:


‘I loved the jungle. I was my own boss. I could almost please myself. The rations were good – we had two large tins of bully each week. I also liked the biscuits, but they had to be soaked in tea, to soften them up.’


Hobbs shined and became a Sergeant-Major: ‘I wanted to get on in the Army. I had an older brother who stayed a Private. Perhaps I wanted to show him.’ His only setback was an attack of Dengue Fever: ‘I think I caught this due to my habit of going for a cooling swim in the lake near our training area. Anyway, I soon recovered.’


Others had to work to settle into jungle life and the harsh LRP regime. Bill Smyly became Animal Transport Officer (ATO) with 5 Column:


‘On one occasion during training I took a horse and rode back along the line of march to help the stragglers. One man grabbed a stirrup and another did the same on the other side. Others then hung onto their shoulders and, within a couple of minutes, I was towing a V-shaped formation of very tired men. The horse dragged them to the Column head and I went back for more. This worked splendidly in India but was no use in Burma. The tracks we used weren’t wide enough. The Gurkhas thought the whole thing hilarious.’


Philip Stibbe described Smyly’s arrival, in the company of his mules: ‘He was a wonderful horseman and although being only nineteen – he was the youngest man in the Column – woe betide anyone, officer or other rank, who did not show due respect for his mules.’14


Smyly offers some interesting views on Fergusson, his own Column Commander, and 3 Column’s Michael Calvert:


‘Fergusson was a ‘gent’ – one of the old-fashioned aristocracy – but very different from Calvert (also a bit of a toff in his way). Fergusson lacked Calvert’s overall grasp of Wingate’s intentions. Calvert was a man among men, with a huge appetite for battle. His only interest was to get to grips with the Japanese. There was a nice story about Calvert in his Daily Telegraph obituary. During the retreat from Burma, he burst open the door of a village house he expected to be full of Gurkhas. Instead, he found Japanese officers at a staff meeting.’


There was a moment of silence and the Corporal standing alongside Calvert whispered, ‘They’re Japs!’ Calvert then spoke: ‘Excuse me, Gentlemen. Wrong door!’ He closed the door behind them and heard a shout of laughter from the room as they fled.


‘Fergusson was different. He had a very human temperament and a playful sense of humour. He knew every man’s name and had an unusual sense of duty towards them. When Longcloth was over and Fergusson was back in Britain he wrote a letter to the families of every member of 5 Column. At that time I had been posted missing and he visited my parents, living in Dulwich.’


Fergusson and Calvert left compelling accounts of both Chindit campaigns. Fergusson’s Beyond the Chindwin (Operation Longcloth) and The Wild Green Earth (Operation Thursday), are memorials to the courage and endurance of every Chindit. Calvert’s Prisoners of Hope is definitive.


Orde Wingate’s LRP Brigade consisted of seven Columns when Longcloth began; 6 Column’s men plugged gaps left by the sick and those who couldn’t cope with the training. The Columns formed two groups. The main force, 2 (Northern) Group (Lieutenant-Colonel S.A. ‘Sam’ Cooke), consisted of Calvert’s 3 Column, Major Conron’s 4 Column (Conron was later succeeded by Major Bromhead), Fergusson’s 5 Column, Major Ken Gilkes’ 7 Column and Major Walter Scott’s 8 Column. 1 (Southern) Group, a diversionary force, was commanded by Lieutenant-Colonel Alexander and had two Columns: Major George Dunlop’s 1 Column and Major Emmett’s 2 Column. The 2nd Burma Rifles was commanded by Lieutenant-Colonel L.G. Wheeler. Wingate would lead the Brigade into Burma. Bill Smyly:


‘We knew the Columns by their Commanders – Scott Column, Gilkes Column, Fergusson, Calvert and so on. We knew their names like we knew the Hollywood film stars. During training it was said that Major Gilkes, of 7 Column, wore out a new pair of boots in his efforts to wear them in!’


The first Brigade-scale exercise began in late September 1942. Many men must have questioned Wingate’s parentage as the ruthless jungle training began to bite. During those early, exhausting marches, Philip Stibbe found he had an advantage:


At school I had been made to learn by heart at least 12 lines of verse each day. ‘Repetition’ we called it and we thought it an archaic custom. Now, tramping through the Central Provinces of India, I passed the time recalling those lines and the miles seemed so much shorter.15


The men may have blamed Wingate for their lot yet they took him to their hearts at the same time. It is not easy to pinpoint exactly why Wingate so rapidly won such deep and long-lasting regard. Wavell’s comment may touch the truth: ‘No really great man is easy to serve and he was a stern taskmaster … but all those worth their salt would rather attempt hard tasks under a great man than serve at ease under a lesser.’16


Men who could take such training took pride in their endurance. Beyond stuffy individuals who dislike any idiosyncrasy, most were amused by their Commander’s eccentricities. Michael Calvert was already accustomed to Wingate’s unusual behaviour, including his habit of dictating orders while naked and his preference for buffalo milk (he had four buffaloes stationed at Brigade HQ, to guarantee supply).


After its first large-scale exercise 77 Brigade marched north, reaching a remote camp near Malthone. Meanwhile, the search for a name for the new force, to replace the clumsy ‘Long Range Penetration’, produced results. According to Calvert, Wingate had talked with a holy man about a fabulous beast – described by some as half lion, half eagle. Chinthé statues guard the Burmese pagodas and Wingate saw a link between strength on the ground (the lion) and strength in the air (the eagle), reflecting his new concept for jungle warfare. It was a short step from ‘Chinthe’ to ‘Chindit’, although the term did not take firm root until Longcloth was over.17


Sergeant Tony Aubrey of The King’s set down his impressions of his first jungle training march. It began at 05.00 on 19 September 1942. He set out on this 52-mile trek only seven days after arriving in India. The first day was exhausting: ‘The one and only vehicle attached to our long Column was an ambulance.’18


Aubrey saw several training accidents, including the death of a Commando instructing in the use of gelignite:
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‘An unusual sense of duty’: Major (later, Brigadier) Bernard Fergusson commanded 5 Column during the 1943 expedition, Operation Longcloth, and 16 Brigade during the second, Operation Thursday, in 1944. Fergusson was always extremely well turned-out. This photograph was taken at the end of the 1944 operation, before he had the chance to clean up! (Trustees of the Imperial War Museum)


Carried away with zeal, he attempted the hazardous feat of tamping a stick home into its appointed hole with his bayonet. The gelignite resented such cavalier treatment. The demonstrator took no further interest in the expedition thereafter, being very dead, and one of the demonstratees had his leg blown off.19


When Longcloth began Aubrey was no novice. He had been a member of a small recce team which reached and crossed the Chindwin in December 1942. When he got back he found 6 Column had broken up and he moved to Scott’s 8 Column.20


The ‘signature’ of Chindit warfare was the ‘Everest’ backpack. Bernard Fergusson regarded this as ‘by no means a bad gadget but one has to have plenty of careful fitting before using it, or the weight is thrown on to the ball of the foot, with dire results…’21


The passage of the years has failed to soften recollections of that heavy pack. Fergusson wrote with disarming honesty:


As soon as I get a pack on my back I begin to develop a grievance. Woe betide anybody who talks to me as I march along, especially anybody who tries to be funny … This goes on until I halt, when my pack comes off my back, the restriction on my blood vessels is eased and the milk of human kindness courses through me to such effect that I would offer the Devil himself a cup of tea.22


Skin problems developed after a few weeks of jungle living. Wet clothing and chaffing from packs and equipment aggravated them. In Beyond the Chindwin, Fergusson described the Chindit’s burden:


The total weight on the man when we first set out was about 72 pounds – half the weight of the average man and more, in proportion to a man’s weight, than the load carried by a mule. The Everest pack fitting alone weighed six pounds; seven days’ rations 14 pounds … Bren guns were carried on mules. The men also carried rifle and bayonet, dah or kukri, three grenades, groundsheet, spare shirt and trousers, four spare pairs of socks, jack-knife, rubber shoes, ‘housewife’, toggle-rope, canvas lifejacket, mess tin, ration bags, water bottle, chagul (water carrier) and many statutory odds and ends.23


The men grew tougher and stronger; but there were many late arrivals. They included Alec Gibson, joining 2 GR. He and Harold James were allocated to Calvert’s 3 Column, Gibson becoming Cypher Officer. Captain Hastings, Adjutant at 2 Group, was unimpressed as he gazed at the new arrivals, dressed in their best uniforms. He asked dryly: ‘Have you made your wills? We are going into Burma in three days.’ Gibson was taken aback: ‘They had been training for months but I had no jungle experience. In fact, I’d never been in the jungle! Furthermore, I spoke only a few words of Urdu and had no Gurkhali.’ Fortunately, Gibson was extremely fit. He had risen through the ranks and long periods of infantry training had hardened him:


‘The first day’s march with full kit wasn’t too bad, but the mules kept shedding their loads. I had the job of looking after those mules carrying wireless and other signals-related equipment. This was a new experience! I was very cautious around the animals and managed to avoid getting kicked. I soon discovered that mules are cunning. They expand their bellies as the girth is tightened, frustrating all efforts to stop loads slipping. The trick was to give them a kick at exactly the right moment. Our mules had not been debrayed and made plenty of noise.’


Section mules carrying weapons, wireless and other heavy gear were led by British Muleteers, one per animal. Gurkha Muleteers led the other mules, one per two animals. 5 Column ATO Bill Smyly had a fiery temperament and was an aggressive defender of animal welfare. Fergusson wrote: ‘He was always, in consequence, in a state of feud with someone or other and I had my work cut out to keep the peace.’24


Men developed real affection for the mules. Michael Calvert had a soft spot for ‘Mabel’. ‘It is difficult to recall just how she differed from other mules, but there was that certain something about her.’ Mule meat would help save many a Chindit in extremis, but ‘no-one would have thought of eating Mabel.’ This mule became Column mascot in Burma and returned safely to India.17


Fergusson’s feelings for mules were entirely in character:


Of mules I should like to celebrate the virtues in a great epic poem. I love them from the tip of their Bolshie ears to the outer rim of their highly suspect hind hooves. The patient eyes and courageous hearts of the great family of mules move me with a real affection.25


Something about the extraordinary mental pressures of Chindit warfare appears to have worked on men’s minds. Fergusson noted that some became passionately fond of their mules: ‘I have seen men weeping at a mule’s death who have not wept at a comrade’s. I have seen men jeer at another Platoon whose mules were having to be helped to their feet, when their own had successfully negotiated whatever obstacle had proved too hard.’ Fergusson recalled a Jock grabbing a mule’s hairy ear, bringing it down to his mouth like a telephone receiver and speaking into it: ‘Hallo, there!’26


Mules made a real contribution to Column morale. Bernard Fergusson:


The mules did more than their share in keeping us in a good temper and their fabled obstinacy, translated into terms of sticking to their job through thick and thin without urging, is a rare and fine quality. Their determination not to be left behind was pathetic and I shall always remember, as one of the saddest sights I have seen, the spectacle of a mule refusing to leave its half-Section, who was succumbing to a bullet wound. They were two animals who always refused to be separated and had to be worked together; they had come to us together and the men who brought them told us that they had never been apart. By the banks of the Irrawaddy one of them laid down and died; the other stood and nuzzled it long after the breath had gone out of its body. At last it consented to come with us, but it was never any good again. It pined away to nothing, and, at last, we had to eat it.26
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Follow my leader: the ‘Column Snake’ crosses a river. This photograph was taken during the 1944 expedition. The Chindit in the left foreground is carrying a Sten gun. (Jim Unsworth)


Flight Lieutenant Robert Thompson (later, Sir Robert Thompson, KBE, CMG, DSO, MC) joined Calvert’s 3 Column. His first job was to train and fit out large mules to carry RAF wireless sets: ‘The key with mules was to get their backs hardened and their saddles well fitted. This last required a lot of manipulating with long needles, to shift the stuffing into the right place.’27


New skills were acquired. Column Commanders and their officers learned how to select a track. Fergusson wrote: ‘We learned never to despise a track that was only just off our line of advance. If it ran within 20 deg. of the right bearing, it was well worth using.’28 The Columns’ maps showed far fewer tracks than actually existed. Conflicts between map, compass and instinct were resolved by following the compass. Guides were of limited use, as their knowledge was highly localised. Security was paramount – guides were told the bare minimum and released only when they could do no harm if they talked.29


If the heavy pack was the signature of Chindit warfare, the Column Snake was its form. The advantages of a single file advance by 400 men and their animals outweighed the disadvantages, according to Fergusson (who should know, given that he marched into Burma twice). The Column Snake was difficult to control but also difficult to attack. Fergusson: ‘If the leading Platoon gets involved, there is ample time for the rest of the Column to deploy and prepare for the engagement.’ The main drawback is the fatigue of those towards the rear. Dozens of minor checks, lasting just a few seconds, increase in duration down the Column. Large gaps may appear, with those at the rear always struggling to catch up.29


An attempt would be made to solve this problem in 1944. Each Special Force Column eventually received six shoebox-sized walkie-talkies, to report gaps to the Column head.30 This equipment was cumbersome and heavy; many walkie-talkies were ‘lost’ at the first opportunity.


Much depended on jungle density and the difficulty of the terrain. Gaps tended not to appear when the going was difficult, as progress, overall, was so slow. Bernard Fergusson: ‘The irritating factor wasn’t the constant galloping to catch up, but the standing about under a heavy load while the “slashers” in front completed the cutting of the track.’30
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The ultimate luxury: pack off and stretched out full length! The artist responsible for this sketch and others in this book is unknown. The originals are in a sketchbook entitled ‘Extracts from a Chindit’s Diary.’ Almost certainly, the artist was a Chindit serving with a 23 Brigade Column during the Imphal/Kohima fighting in 1944. (Tony Wailes)


Even in relatively thin jungle slashers were required at the Column head, as laden mules needed a five-foot wide track.31 Staggering up and down steep, jungle-covered slopes, very heavily laden, in tropical conditions, was exhausting and soul-destroying. Inevitably, men lost awareness of their surroundings. Fergusson explained:


When you are carrying a heavy pack, with the best will in the world your eyes drop to the ground and stay there. Watch a Column on the move, standing five yards to the flank, and the odds are five to one that they will walk past you without spotting you, with heads bent and eyes downcast, like a Buddhist priest. It was necessary to detail a few men at a time to keep their eyes about them, relieving them every few minutes.29


Every man was severely tested, both mentally and physically. 5 Column’s Commander confessed: ‘After each hourly halt one swore one wouldn’t look at one’s watch until something like the hour was up, yet I always found that the first time I looked at it no more than 20 minutes out of the hour was gone.’32 Fergusson enjoyed being wrapped up in ‘a really good dream’:


One that haunted me most, particularly towards evening, was the mere thought of lying stretched out full length. Such a posture seemed the ultimate luxury and it was hard to believe that, in an hour or two, this pleasure would actually be ours to enjoy for the whole long night.


He added: ‘We marched until dusk, left the track, drew the secrecy of the jungle about us and bedded down with less fuss than the dog who walks three times round before he settles.’ Yet security was always an issue. In dry country, with Japanese known to be in the area, the Column would bivouac away from water, for obvious reasons.32


Fergusson preserved the dignity of rank by selecting the ‘Commander’s Tree’: ‘Only I and my immediate staff may go near it and nobody else may settle down within 20 yards of it. It is my Command Post, my office, my dining room and my bed…’ A whistle summoned the officers to ‘Column Orders’.


Fergusson would confirm their position, declare the next rendezvous and give the time for moving off, very early the next morning. The relatively cool early hours were too precious to waste; he aimed to complete at least two hours’ marching before breakfast. All fires were out an hour and a quarter after getting into night bivouac.33


The Column rendezvous was always forward, never back. The RV had to be easy to find, even without a map. They tended to be natural features (not subject to change) and a line rather than a point, much reducing the risk of overshooting. Typically, a stream running across the line of approach was selected. Two rendezvous points were given to the officers, but only the first could be passed on to NCOs.34
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Taking a break: Major Walter Phipps, then a Company Commander with the 1st Bedfordshire and Hertfordshire, during training in India prior to Operation Thursday in 1944. Phipps went on to command 16 Column during the later stages. Note the canvas water bucket at his feet. (John Riggs)


Column life was governed by routine. On reaching the night bivouac the animals were brought in, grouped by Platoon and unloaded at each side.


Each man was expected to check his kit. Regardless of items taken out for use in bivouac, all packs had to be shut and fastened.35 Whenever possible, the animals were watered at the last stream before bivouac. Bernard Fergusson: ‘The men were taught never to expect water at a bivouac. Except where there was a real water crisis, they were always expected to arrive in bivouac with full water bottles.’


If they came to a stream within half an hour of bivouac, the men were given the chance to fill their chaguls. If a stream was near the bivouac, the men would be allowed to drain their bottles and refill them (enemy permitting, of course).33


In hot conditions, the best defence against thirst was an uncomfortably long drink before starting out in the morning:


If water was nearby, or if there was a reasonable prospect of a fill in the next hour or two of marching, all ranks were induced to drink as much as they were able, and far more than they wanted. Nobody wants to drink a whole water bottle before dawn, but it is a wise measure and the benefit to be derived from it lasts long into the day, even after the sun has been engaged for several hours on doing its worst.36


Columns averaged nine hours’ sleep a night and, according to Fergusson, ‘it wasn’t a minute too much.’37 Security was always on his mind. He had a strict rule: anyone coughing within 15 minutes of getting up in the morning had his cigarette ration docked.36 The Column felt reasonably secure when obvious precautions were taken: moving off the track, into the jungle, and establishing sentry and listening posts. The track ‘stops’ were called in half an hour after dark unless the Japanese were thought to be near. Fergusson added: ‘To be caught in bivouac you must either have been very unlucky or very careless: it was a thing that shouldn’t happen.’33


In common with Sergeant-Major Hobbs, 5 Column’s ATO found the first expedition’s rations good. In fact, in some ways Bill Smyly preferred them to Operation Thursday’s K-rations:


‘Our rations for the first show were easier to carry. The K-rations (from Battle Creek, Michigan – home of Kellogg’s Cornflakes) were marvellous but heavy. The best thing about the British rations in 1943 was the high concentrate biscuits dropped in cans. They looked a bit like large, square dog biscuits. They would swell up in tea and could be turned into a satisfying porridge. The biscuits filled you up and kept well as emergency rations. At one time we lasted 18 days on eight days’ rations. You couldn’t do that on K-rations. I was fond of these biscuits and, after the war, tried dog biscuits, but they are not the same!’


Most of Wingate’s men would come dangerously close to starvation. Generally, rations were insufficient to sustain men struggling to cope with Operation Longcloth’s extreme physical demands. Fergusson was scathing:


The ration, at the best of times, was not too good. It was too meagre, at any rate, to try and make one day’s last a day and a half without loss of stamina. The dieticians were horrified at our using it at all, since it was originally designed for parachutists to live on for a maximum period of five days.


It consisted of 12 Shakapura biscuits, 2 oz. of cheese, some nuts and raisins, some dates, 20 cigarettes, tea, sugar and milk. In addition, there was supposed to be chocolate, but two packets out of three had acid drops instead. Such was one’s frame of mind that, when one got acid drops instead of chocolate, one wanted to burst into tears and, such is my luck, I only got chocolate twice. I should add that there was also that extremely important item, a packet of salt.38


Bill Smyly is one of many who testify to Wingate’s boundless enthusiasm for onions. He walked around with a pocketful, munching them like apples and praising their virtues to anyone within earshot. This might explain an unwelcome gift from the skies during Longcloth:


‘A large bale was free-dropped to us. It was huge and you could smell it yards away. A solid block of dried onions, it must have weighed a quarter of a ton. Imagine being killed by a bale of onions falling from the sky! It was a problem. We couldn’t eat it there and then and we couldn’t take it with us. It smelt so strongly that your pack would remember it for a month. So we left it, but we all thought of it any time we happened to have bully beef.’


Wingate put his stamp on every aspect of training. His requirements were set out in written orders and leaflets. Philip Stibbe (Return via Rangoon) found these to be a strange mixture of good sense and the obscure: ‘Saluting was to be cut down to a minimum. Everything was to be done at the double. Everyone must eat at least one raw onion per day. Only shorts would be worn when it was raining. Swearing must stop.’ Wingate even decreed that all officers should have an 800-word vocabulary in both Urdu and Gurkhali. Failure to monitor progress on this front had the virtue of avoiding disappointment. Bill Smyly:


‘The young Gurkhas, of course, did not speak English and I was supposed to speak Army Exam Urdu, which was not actually their native language. I wasn’t very good but got by and the men were understanding and good fun. Obviously, they imitated me and had some cracks at ‘Smyly Speak’.’


The Column Commander usually marched at the Column head, just behind the ‘slashers’ and called out the route. He had to show real expertise in analysing the country ahead. Most Column maps were to the halfinch scale (covering around 35 miles square). The key to meaningful interpretation, according to Fergusson, was to understand the drainage (or ‘tilt’) of the country. The less developed the country, the more important this becomes: ‘In a primitive and undeveloped land, man settles where there is water … Where man settles, villages spring up. Between villages, tracks spring up. Villages become towns, tracks become roads and roads become railways…’
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Supplied from the skies: Chindit signal fires in a clearing, giving the direction of run for supply-dropping aircraft. (Trustees of the Imperial War Museum)


A close study of water systems will suggest the likely presence of villages: ‘you can be sure that if villages are marked on the banks of a chaung, that chaung, at least, will have water throughout the year.’


Knowledge of the language would also allow deductions to be made from place-names. ‘Kwin’, for example, means grassy clearing and might suggest a potential site for a supply drop. Nothing could be taken for granted, however, due to the Burmese habit of moving villages every 15–20 years. When a village moves, so do the tracks serving it.39


There was an art to planning a march. Fergusson would study the ‘tilt’ and watersheds. Tracks were the best routes as they indicated thinner jungle, but they are more risky. Column security could be compromised by gossip between local communities. Once again, an intelligent examination of the map would allow the Column Commander to make shrewd guesses about the extent to which terrain and water systems isolated communities and so contained information about their movements.39


No doubt, all Chindits would agree with Fergusson’s observation: ‘The most heart-breaking fate which can befall you is to find yourself travelling across the grain of the country.’ A lengthy diversion was often better than repeated climbs and descents. Yet, no matter what the conditions, everyone hankered for a change in the going. It was a relief to leave thick jungle and walk along a chaung, until the soft sand created a yearning for solid going. Teak is the only form of jungle not requiring cutting teams at the Column head, but teak forests are dry and the Column Snake must put up with choking dust. Bamboo provides good cover from the air and the men can move beneath the clumps, with the branches forming an arch above them. Unfortunately, the arches are too low for mules and therefore must be cut, with the danger of noise alerting an enemy. Dead bamboo is worse, with no chance to pass underneath. Some bamboo is almost impenetrable: ‘This is jungle so solid that it has to be cut out like the slice of a cake…’ It was graded half-a-mile-an-hour jungle or 400 yardsan-hour jungle.39
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Dining in ‘bivvy’: a Chindit cooking fire, with more rations descending from above. (Tony Wailes)


In some circumstances cross-country travel was essential on security grounds. There were some basic principles to consider: the Column Commander might choose a track if he is in a hurry and believes the area free of Japanese. This decision might be clinched if there is no requirement to stay put at the destination. Equally, a cross-country route might be selected if there is no time pressure, the Column’s presence is to be kept secret and the men are to stay put on arrival. Night marching was preferred for tracks and day marching for the far more difficult but more secure cross-country option.39


Many weeks of tough training ended in a Brigadescale exercise in December 1942. This was observed by Wavell. Every aspect of LRP warfare was tested and preparations were complete by the early New Year. Fergusson told a close comrade that the chance of coming back was ‘even money’. The odds in his Column turned out to be 3 to 1 against.40


Large-scale exercises, or ‘schemes’, highlighted the problem of crossing major obstacles – a road or valley floor with little or no cover. Column Commanders learned to take such problems in their stride. Bernard Fergusson:


One is sometimes faced with the problem of crossing a valley two or three miles wide without a shred of cover. You see it on the map two or three days ahead of you and lose much sleep in wondering how you will do it. The answer lies in a moonlit night and I remember crossing such valleys three nights in succession, marching by moonlight … and lying up each scorching day in friendly jungle.


Crossing a road in Column strength was always a challenge. It took 15 minutes or more for 400 men and around 65 animals to pass a given point. They learned from experience.


Fergusson’s Column took to crossing a road or track in a single wave of small groups; all tell-tale signs were removed by brushing with leaves. If the Column was pursued it would break track, divide into small groups, march to an agreed compass bearing for a short period and then reform.41 This manoeuvre was more difficult to achieve than to describe. In a number of cases, including that of 5 Column itself, the dispersed elements failed to come together again. Fergusson’s own ATO, Bill Smyly, commented: ‘The idea of breaking up into small groups and meeting up at some place ‘ahead’ would really be a good way of never seeing most of your Column again.’


In dry country the Japanese could be expected to patrol watercourses. During training, special precautions were taken when crossing streams, to disguise the crossing point, but this was much harder when faced with a wide, sandy chaung.41


Wingate’s force held supply drop exercises during the 130–mile approach march from Dimapur. Aircraft from 31 Squadron, RAF, dropped to them. ‘Firemen’ built and tended signal fires and ‘Pickers-up’, complete with mules, brought in loads. ‘Dumpmen’ managed the collected stores. ‘Recorders’ watched from vantage points and, partnered by ‘Markers’, recorded the number of loads dropped on each run and the location of those falling outside the drop zone. A defensive screen protected the Column. Fergusson quickly picked up useful tips. He soon appreciated that the distribution of mail should be left to last, to avoid everyone taking time off to read the latest from home.42


Wingate’s force marched forward at night, the road being reserved for IV Corps’ vehicles during daylight. 5 Column’s Philip Stibbe described a magnificent sunrise on the Manipur Road:


The vast mountain ranges flaunting themselves against the vivid morning sky, the silver sheen of the rivers gleaming below through the gaps in the mist, the long line of men and animals, each standing out in bold relief as the Column topped a rise in the road, all made an unforgettable impression.43


Reaching the Imphal Plain after nine nights, they camped five miles outside Imphal and made final preparations. Stibbe went forward to recce bivouac sites. He noticed that a Gurkha Battalion’s mules seemed content munching bamboo leaves. He passed this on to Wingate, who ordered the practice to be adopted Brigade-wide. This much reduced their reliance on airdropped fodder.43


Suddenly, however, Longcloth ran into trouble. At a conference in Delhi, opening on 1 February, Wavell learned that the Chinese Yunnan offensive was postponed.17 Longcloth was not designed ‘as a mere unsupported foray,’ but rather as part of the grand design for regaining Burma.16


This broader plan envisaged IV Corps advancing south from Imphal, towards the Chindwin, while General Stilwell’s Chinese in the north would attack from Ledo towards Myitkyina. Furthermore, the Chinese would advance from Yunnan and there would be a push towards Akyab, in the Arakan.8


What would be the point of LRP attacks on Japanese lines of communication, in the absence of wider offensive action?


Wingate was told on 5 February. Wavell wrote: ‘I flew up to Manipur and had a long discussion with Wingate, whether, in these circumstances, the raid should take place at all, since it now served no strategical purpose and the Japanese would be free to concentrate against it. He convinced me that the chances of getting the Brigade through and of extricating it again were good and that the experience to be gained would be invaluable and well worth the risk. There is no doubt too that cancellation would have been a bitter disappointment to troops keyed up to the pitch of action by months of training.’16 Wingate was as persuasive as ever. His men began marching into Burma.


Fergusson was busy with his final preparations when told by Wavell that the wider offensives were cancelled. Fergusson later said of Wingate:


I know that doubt has been cast on his wisdom in pressing to be allowed to carry on independ-ently and even – an intolerable impertinence, it has always seemed to me – in the wisdom of the Commander-in-Chief in allowing him to do so. I can only say that every Column Commander was in agreement; so would every officer, had they been consulted, and not one of us, even in the light of after-events, has ever regretted the decision.44


Philip Stibbe led No. 7 Platoon, one of 5 Column’s three Rifle Platoons. When posted in, he found the men of 13th King’s (Liverpool) ‘difficult to understand and, at times, exasperating. Later, when I had become accustomed to their rather sardonic attitude to life, and stopped taking everything they said too seriously, we got along much better.’45


Wingate visited the Battalion. Stibbe provides an interesting sketch of this encounter:


It was impossible not to be impressed by Wingate; in appearance, in speech and in manner he was dynamic. Thick set and not very tall, he seemed endowed with immense physical energy, but it was his face which was so striking, particularly the deep set eyes glaring out from beneath his now famous sun helmet. He was inclined to stoop as he walked and, with his head and jaw thrust forward and his eyes half closed, as though in concentration, he looked what he was, a genius and a fanatical man of action.45


This encounter ended on a flat note:


After the parade had been dismissed, the Colonel took his six new officers to be introduced to the Brigadier. We stood uneasily outside the tent which was Brigade Headquarters. After a few minutes, Wingate stalked out, glared at us and then shook hands in silence. As he turned on his heel to withdraw, he growled, ‘I hope you will all enjoy yourselves.’ ‘We hope so, too’, one of us murmured as he disappeared.45


Wingate and his Brigade were soon on their way. Operation Longcloth had begun, against all odds. Wavell was present at their departure. Bill Smyly:


‘Wavell was probably the one man in GHQ Delhi who supported Wingate and did not think him a crank. Their association went back years, to Palestine, and it was Wavell who decided the operation should go ahead. He came down personally to see us off and, of course, to say goodbye and good luck to Bernard Fergusson, who had been his ADC. On our parade, as we marched off, instead of us saluting him, he saluted us and wished us well.’
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BEHIND JAPANESE LINES


‘Surrendering to some extent his own volition, every individual became absorbed into the Column consciousness or identity.’


Charles Carfrae, Chindit Column


Order of Battle: 77th Indian Infantry Brigade, Operation Longcloth








	

Commander




	

Brigadier Orde C. Wingate, DSO












No. 1 Group (Southern)


Lieutenant-Colonel Alexander, 3/2nd Gurkha Rifles (2 GR)








	

No. 1 Column




	

Major G. Dunlop, MC, Royal Scots









	

No. 2 Column




	

Major A. Emmett, 3/2nd Gurkha Rifles (2 GR)












No. 2 Group (Northern)


Lieutenant-Colonel S.A. Cooke, The Lincolnshire Regiment (attached, The King’s (Liverpool) Regiment) (King’s)












	

No. 3 Column




	

Major J.M. Calvert, Royal Engineers (RE)









	

No. 4 Column




	

Major Conron, 3/2nd Gurkha Rifles (2 GR) (later, Major R.B.G. Bromhead, Royal Berkshire Regiment)









	

No. 5 Column




	

Major B.E. Fergusson, The Black Watch (BW)









	

No. 7 Column




	

Major K.D. Gilkes, The King’s (Liverpool) Regiment (King’s)









	

No. 8 Column




	

Major W.P. Scott, The King’s (Liverpool) Regiment (King’s)












No. 6 Column was broken up during training, to bring other columns up to strength.


2nd Battalion The Burma Rifles


Lieutenant-Colonel L.G. Wheeler


Wingate’s men soon discovered the difference between tough training and the even harsher reality of behindthe-lines warfare in the North Burmese jungle. The two Long Range Penetration groups set off on 8 February 1943. Southern Group’s two Columns, led by Lieutenant-Colonel Alexander, were to cut the railway south of Wuntho and divert attention from the main body – Northern Group’s five Columns. This larger group was to attack the railway and facilities around Nankan, in ‘Railway Valley’. Southern Group would then rendezvous with the main body and, in favourable circumstances, the united force would cross the Irrawaddy and cut the Mandalay-Lashio railway.1 Column Commanders had specific objectives: Bernard Fergusson’s 5 Column had the Bonchaung Bridge and Gorge as targets.2 Michael Calvert’s 3 Column also had railway targets.


77 Brigade moved towards the Chindwin, the boundary separating British and Japanese forces. Fergusson found the night marches along the Manipur Road interminable: ‘They were tolerable only because we were able to march in threes instead of single file, or Column Snake.’3


The Columns aimed to cover around 20 miles each night. Cypher Officer Alec Gibson was with Calvert’s Column: ‘The road spiralled round into mountainous country. It was pitch black most of the time but I wasn’t too worried in this strange, new environment. I was too busy keeping up with everyone else.’


During those long, exhausting nights Column Commanders had plenty of time to think about their orders to leave behind wounded or sick who could no longer march. Fergusson wrote:


I gave the officers a talk the afternoon before we entrained. The thing that worried us all most was having to leave behind the wounded, but it was quite obvious that there was nothing else to be done for them and that to linger with them meant risking the success of the show. All had been taught the rudiments of First Aid, for what such rudiments are worth, all had been issued with morphia and told how to administer it, according to need, including a lethal dose. For the badly wounded, it might be possible to leave them in friendly villages and every officer had copies of a letter in Burmese, to be left with the villagers.4


Sergeant Tony Aubrey was with Scott’s 8 Column. He saw many men dump unnecessary kit during the third day of the march to the Chindwin. He watched one officer jettison an unlikely catalogue of items: ‘leather jerkins and camel hair coats, thigh boots and golfing shoes, and knives and torches and other gadgets in profusion. He was seen to offer a Private soldier a resplendent silver-plated shaving mirror, but the Tommy replied, with real regret, ‘I’m sorry, Sir. I’m afraid I won’t be wanting that now.’5 Most men began growing beards. Shaving tackle weighed little, but every ounce of weight counted. In addition, a beard camouflaged the face and provided protection against mosquitoes.


Major Fergusson’s Column reached Lokchau on 12 February and made for Tamu, to draw their Longcloth rations. Orde Wingate’s Order of the Day of 14 February declared:


We have all had the opportunity of withdrawing and we are here because we have chosen to be here; that is, we have chosen to bear the burden and heat of the day. Men who make this choice are above the average of courage. We need, therefore, have no fear for the staunchness and guts of our comrades. The motive which has led each and all of us to devote ourselves to what lies ahead cannot conceivably have been a bad motive. Comfort and security are not sacrificed voluntarily, for the sake of others, by ill-disposed people. Our motive, therefore, may be taken to be the desire to serve our day and generation in the way that seems nearest to our hand.


It concluded with words which resonate down the years:


Finally, knowing the vanity of man’s effort and the confusion of his purpose, let us pray that God may accept our services and direct our endeavours so that, when we shall have done all, we may see the fruits of our labours and be satisfied.


[image: image]


Southern Group’s two Columns opened their diversion by crossing the Chindwin at Auktaung. Wingate, however, did not expect to cross undetected despite the Auktaung feint. The main group was to cross at Tonhe, but the approaches became congested. Fergusson’s Column crossed three miles upstream during the night of 15/16 February. Animal Transport Officer (ATO) Bill Smyly stared at the river, around 400 yards wide:


‘I didn’t really know how to get my mules across. We put canoes out in front, tied some mules together in a line and set out. It is impossible to drive mules across a river. They simply turn around and come back to the near bank. They have to be led across to the other side. We took them over in groups of 10. Bernard Fergusson didn’t criticise me in his book, which was kind of him, but the canoes were his idea and he did more to get the mules over than I did.’


Calvert’s 3 Column arrived at the Chindwin’s west bank, moved into night bivouac and prepared to cross. The men were told to remove their boots and put on gym shoes, to keep the noise down. Cypher Officer Alec Gibson found the prospect unattractive:


‘When I came up to the river, the Column’s efforts to cross looked like a shambles. Confusion reigned in the darkness. There was a very strong current and even the best swimmers had so far failed to get a rope across to the opposite bank. This was essential, as none of our Gurkhas could swim. After a couple of failures with the rope, the attempt was abandoned for that night.


[image: image]


A good look at each other: a Chindit patrol surrounded by curious villagers. This photograph, taken during Operation Thursday in 1944, shows members of the Bedfordshire and Hertfordshire’s 61 Column Recce Platoon. Villagers were eager to barter food for parachute cloth. The typical village house (just visible, right) is built on stilts – providing space underneath for livestock and giving good clearance from the Monsoon mud. (John Riggs)


Everyone returned to bivouac. I felt better inside. These men had been training for months, yet didn’t seem to know how to cross a river. Perversely, as a complete novice I found this failure strangely comforting.’


Alec Gibson got his first real look at the river when dawn broke:


‘It was quite formidable. The water was muddy and the current strong. There was a sandbank roughly in the middle.’


Gibson tied his kit and rifle into a waterproof groundsheet, having stripped for the swim:


‘The widest stretch was around 200 yards, not too bad for a good swimmer. In fact, I went out and back three times that day. The rope connection with the far bank was secured during the morning. Boats were found to ferry across our non-swimmers and the packs and heavy equipment. The mules, however, were a nightmare. Some were reasonably happy to cross and others could be persuaded to follow them, but many proved unmanageable.’


Fergusson also found the crossing challenging:


The Chindwin was a good deal wider than anything we had previously tackled and, though we had had stronger currents to deal with, the combination of current and width proved formidable. The intention was to tow a light line over in one of the small rubber boats, make fast to the heavy line and, once the light line was across, to tow the heavy line over by hauling on the light. But the heavy rope kept being caught by the stream and whisked off to leeward and the light line parted every time. After strenuous efforts, we got the heavy line over, the far end coming ashore a long way down stream, and then we could not eliminate the sag. At last it became apparent that we had fouled the bottom. That began a weary cycle of twitching it, diving for it, dredging for it and then starting again. A fishing boat was put to work and rafts were built for those mules refusing to swim.6


He rated the Karens of The Burma Rifles as the best watermen: ‘Their prowess in the water has to be seen to be believed. They would build boats from bamboo and groundsheets in a few minutes.’7


Fergusson’s Column continued to march by night, resting up in the seclusion of deep jungle during daylight.8 The Column Commander remained cautious: ‘I never bivouacked within 500 yards of a track.’9 His men met up with other Columns around Myene and they had their first good look at a Burmese village. It compared well with the ‘squalor and poverty’ of its Indian counterpart.10


ATO Bill Smyly watched over his 30 Muleteers, a full Platoon:


‘They were all very young, 18 to 20 – the same age as me, actually, though I didn’t think of this at the time. We were organised so that the Gurkhas – Transport Muleteers – led two mules each, while British Muleteers in the Rifle Company and special Sections (radio and so on) led a single mule. There was an enormous mule for the RAF Wireless Section, with its heavy equipment, called a ‘Missouri’, sired by a ‘Maltese Jack’ (whatever that is) out of a large American mare.


‘Anyway, Gurkhas led two mules and we soon found it was best to let the follower follow free. Going over an obstacle, if the leading mule jumped and the follower resisted, the pair had to fall out of the line of march to have their harness adjusted. The Muleteers realised that the second mule, if unhitched, would tend to follow on naturally and, maybe, if it didn’t the man behind could encourage it, or take over and lead.


‘This worked well by day and was an advantage in rough country and at river crossings. On one dark night, however, the follower stopped to graze and a sleepy soldier behind him stopped too. The head of the Column went on into the night as the body of the Column queued up behind a grazing mule. I was near the back and could not understand the delay. The ATO is Column Marshal. It didn’t seem particularly dark and I went forward to find out what was happening. On the way I found Bernard Fergusson stuck head down in a bush. Apparently, he was night blind, had fallen into the prickly bush and was now firmly pinned down by his very large rucksack. I pulled him out by his belt and he followed me with one hand on my shoulder. Obviously, he was more night blind than me. At the head we found the soldier, almost asleep, with his head on the mule’s rump, and the major section of the whole Column queuing up behind this grazing animal.


‘To give him credit, Fergusson didn’t explode with anger, but he clearly felt that Smyly and his mules were out of control. He halted, summoned the officers forward, got onto the head of the Column by radio, telling them what had happened, and we all bedded down for the night where we were. As leading culprit I was given the worst watch of the night – a punishment I deserved as much for laughing as for inefficiency. Later, I went to sleep and when I awoke I discovered I was night blind. I was supposed to patrol the Column, but couldn’t see a thing. I smoked a horrible cheroot as a way of staying awake and then got up and tried to find my way up and down the Column Snake in the dark.’


Passing the animals, Smyly spent part of the rest of the night leaning against a prone bullock, stroking its head, talking to it and trying to see in the dark:


‘Later I mistook the sleeping Fergusson for another bullock. I began saying inappropriate things and he replied: ‘Smyly? I’m glad you’re back. Can you pull my groundsheet from under me and put it on top. I think it’s going to rain’. It was 4 am and getting light.’


[image: image]


With the Chindwin behind them, Calvert’s 3 Column marched on. Cypher Officer Alec Gibson, towards the rear, suffered the usual trials of those at the end of the Column Snake: frequent hold-ups and desperate attempts to close the gaps. It could be worse – the short straw was Rearguard. Men in this Section had to be relieved on a regular basis.


Despite all trials and discomforts, Gibson recalled the Column’s positive atmosphere:


‘Everyone got on well together, although communication was a problem. The front of the Column might send a message back in English. This would be translated into Gurkhali, then Burmese at some point and, finally, back into English. Not surprisingly, even the simplest message was often corrupted.’


It took 3 Column some days to settle into its routine. The heat sapped energy and sweat poured off the men as they struggled on. Alec Gibson:


‘I don’t remember taking salt tablets but I do recall that one of our Burmese officers always knew where to find rock salt. We took to sucking chunks of it as we marched.’


In the second half of February Fergusson’s 5 Column made for Metkalet, but difficult country changed plans. They were ordered to Tonmakeng, close to the selected Brigade bivouac. Wingate had requested a big supply drop and he gave Fergusson’s Column the job of receiving it. Meanwhile, the bulk of the force set out to attack Japanese-held Sinlamaung village, 20 miles to the south-east. The fighting group returned to the Brigade bivouac on 26 February, having found Sinlamaung abandoned. They had destroyed the huts and Japanese stores. The Brigade-scale supply drop had been successful with aircraft dropping twice daily over a three-day period. The two Dakotas and a Hudson had a fighter escort. Fergusson’s men were rewarded with two days’ extra rations.11 Major Calvert, typically, did not return empty-handed from Sinlamaung. He arrived with a Japanese officer’s horse and an elephant, complete with Mahout.12
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Low pass: stores leave a Dakota over the DZ. (Jim Unsworth)


Sergeant Tony Aubrey, with 8 Column, watched the Brigade drop and was impressed:


Not even a single one of the sacks containing the corn for the mules burst. These were ingeniously packed, a 56 pound sack of corn being securely wrapped up in four hundredweight sacks stuffed with straw. When these ungainly bundles hit the ground, they bounced 10 ft into the air and anyone who had happened to be standing in their path wouldn’t have lived to tell the tale.13


During the Tonmakeng supply drops 5 Column’s Philip Stibbe discovered a sleeping sentry. Major Fergusson gave the man the choice of walking back to India alone or taking a flogging. Not surprisingly, he accepted the latter. CSM Cairns administered the punishment with a makeshift cat-o’-nine-tails fashioned from parachute cord.14


The problem of discipline within the Columns was much discussed before going in. Commenting on the dilemma posed by the sleeping sentry, Fergusson wrote:


How do you punish a man for an offence like that, in circumstances like these? Shooting, thank goodness, is no longer the recognised punishment; to hold a field general court martial and give him penal servitude hardly helps towards making him a useful soldier during the next few months; detention, loss of pay, stoppage of leave, confinement to – Column? – none of these seem applicable.15


Bill Smyly, meanwhile, became increasingly restless. The ATO pressed his Column Commander for more militant employment and Fergusson began to oblige.


The jungle routine became firmly entrenched. Each Column had four or five groups for defence and command purposes. The order of march changed daily, with the lead group moving to the rear the next day and the others moving up a slot. This spread the hardships at the Column tail.16


The men applied the fieldcraft skills picked up during training. The basics were set out some years later by J.P. Cross: never tread on what can be stepped over, never cut what can be broken naturally, never bend what can be moved, never move what can be passed without moving and never step on soft ground if a harder surface is available.


Cross wrote that the leader’s ear should be attuned to normal jungle noises, to differentiate between natural and man-made sounds. He had to rely on his observation of broken twigs, branches and trampled undergrowth to detect the recent presence or proximity of humans. ‘He must readily recognise the danger of tracks converging at watering places, cultivations and habitations and to approach such areas with caution.’17


Many men had a deep loathing of the jungle’s natural hazards. Having crossed the Chindwin successfully, Alec Gibson did his level best to take the jungle insects in his stride:


‘I couldn’t avoid brushing against the undergrowth and red ants often dropped into my shirt. They sting like hell. Fortunately, there were very few malarial mosquitoes in our area, but we still took Mepacrine daily.’


Every man pushed away his fears. Alec Gibson, still a jungle novice, was unprepared for the possibility of separation and the need to rely on his own wits to rejoin the Column:


‘The Column Commander and perhaps four other officers had maps. Most of the time I hadn’t a clue where we were. When in bivouac I was too busy with cyphers and mules to attend Calvert’s conferences.’


Yet Calvert made a powerful impression on Gibson:


‘He was a marvellous man – unsurpassed at map reading. At one stage we took an air drop and Calvert decided to cache some stores. Several days later he returned to that exact spot in the jungle and recovered the supplies. It was very impressive. He was a strong leader yet very approachable.’


If Gibson had concerns about becoming lost, he was in good company. No less a person than Bernard Fergusson wrote frankly about the occasion when his own jungle nightmare became a reality: ‘I was that forlorn creature, a Column Commander who had lost his Column.’ When he eventually rejoined the Column ‘it felt like a miracle and I have never been more aware of God’s mercy.’18


The jungle was rich in hazards, from falling trees and rotten branches (which can be heard but not seen during the night) to an impressive array of stinging and biting creatures, from ants and flies to caterpillars, ticks, scorpions, centipedes and leeches. In common with Alec Gibson and everyone else, Fergusson detested the aggressive red ants of dry teak jungle,


… with the most vicious sting imaginable. They would stand on their heads and burrow into you as if with a pneumatic drill. If you were unlucky enough to brush a tree with your sleeve, you would spend the next 15 minutes in a torture, compared with which the martyrdom of Saint Sebastian was a holiday with pay.19


Leeches filled many British soldiers with disgust. Charles Carfrae wrote:


One might observe numbers of leeches on the wet leaves of evergreen bushes bordering tracks, heads and bodies raised up in the shape of questionmarks as they made ready to attach themselves to any moving object brushing past. The creatures, looking like short lengths of bootlace when their stomachs remained empty, were adept at insinuating themselves between trouser and anklet – even through lace-holes – and sometimes decided to attach themselves to our private parts, an impertinence providing welcome entertainment for all but the victim. More commonly, they fixed on legs or feet. Unless one happened to see patches of blood, or feel it oozing, their presence might remain undetected until the leeches had become fully gorged, blown up like miniature sausage balloons. A pinch of salt or lighted cigarette applied to their rear ends would make them drop off; it was when foolish or impatient soldiers tried to dislodge the things by force that their heads remained embedded, to cause nasty jungle sores or ulcers.20


The author’s father, Private Jack Redding – who participated in the second Wingate operation – filled his young children with horror when describing his surprise at finding a large purple globe on his leg on waking one morning. It was impossible to stop his hand instinctively sweeping the offending object away, leaving the limb smeared heavily with blood.


The vegetation formed part of an unforgiving environment. Bernard Fergusson described prickly bamboo as Burma’s biggest curse: ‘the leaves and stalks tear your clothes and flesh to ribbons.’ He also complained of Bizat bushes that shed dry particles which go down the neck and irritate the skin.21 Many men found the jungle an eerie place. Fraser wrote:


The chief irritant on stag (a two-hour watch by two men) was the ‘up you bird’ (I give the bowdlerised form of the name), familiar to all who have soldiered in the Far East. In fact, it is a large lizard … It starts up at night and drives strong men mad, for its call is a harsh whirring sound culminating in a melodious ‘Up you! Up you! Up you! Half an hour of this and you become convinced that there is a human being out there, chanting obscenely at you…22


Fergusson applied shrewd psychology when operating in dense jungle:


In jungle country views are hard to come by and every one is precious. Submerged in jungle for days at a time, to reach the top of a range of hills and to see the view is as precious as the sight of the sea to the engineer of a fishing boat who, once in an hour, thrusts his head through the hatch, looks around him, and gulps a few lungfuls of salt sea air. Whenever possible on such an occasion, I used to halt the Column in the most advantageous place, where the most people could see, to give a chance to all officers to identify landmarks on their maps and point them out to their men. In days of long and weary marching, the more the men can be told, the better; they always took a great interest.23
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‘In jungle country views are hard to come by’: every opportunity was taken to give Column officers a chance to orientate themselves. (Tony Wailes)


NCOs of the finest quality watched over the Column Sections. Sergeant Major Bob Hobbs was the senior NCO responsible for a large group within his Column. Six Sergeants led the Sections:


‘I spent my time at the back of this group, keeping everyone in line. They thought I was a right git. They all disliked me, but I had to be tough. Our march into Burma was very hard but I was extremely fit and never had any trouble with my feet. A chap in my group recommended soaking them in a solution of washing soda. I took his advice and never had problems with them.’


[image: image]


Following the Sinlamaung venture, Wingate held a conference and set out his intentions. The Brigade would move into the Mu Valley and begin negotiating the other valleys along the approach to the railway. Calvert’s 3 Column set out independently, but the other four Columns (4, 5, 7 and 8) left Tonmakeng together, using a so-called ‘secret track’. The going was appalling. Philip Stibbe, in Return via Rangoon, wrote: ‘all I know about that track was that it never remained on the level for more than a few yards … Many rises were so steep that the only way the mules could climb them was at a run.’24


Wingate did nothing for morale by prohibiting tea before leaving bivouac in the morning, to save time and maintain security in the hour before dawn. From now on, the Columns would move off at first light, march for an hour, call a brief halt, march for another hour and then have breakfast. Later, the three-hour midday halt would give enough time for a meal, cleaning weapons and other jobs.24


The Columns entered the Mu Valley and turned south for Pinlebu. They would then head east, across the hills, to reach the Meza Valley and the road and railway. Wingate pressed his Column Commanders for more speed. During 5 Column’s approach to the Pinlebu road, he gave Bernard Fergusson a personal demonstration of how to cut through dense jungle more efficiently. Rather than using two or three slashers in front, the Brigadier’s method employed an entire Platoon. The leaders cut a narrow way, just wide enough for themselves, and the remaining slashers steadily widened it as they progressed, until it reached the 5 ft required to allow laden mules to pass.25


There were Japanese garrisons at Pinlebu and elsewhere in the area. 4 Column left the main body to attack Japanese-held Pinbon. Fergusson’s 5 Column then took the lead, with 7 and 8 Columns and Brigade HQ following, in the advance on Pinlebu.24 8 Column attacked Pinlebu, calling in a heavy air strike on 4 March. They then found the Japanese had dispersed. Scott’s Column withdrew and the enemy promptly counter-attacked an empty town.26


Pinlebu is 30 miles west of Nankan. 7 and 8 Columns, together with Brigade HQ, continued to use the road but 5 Column left it and entered the Nam Maw Valley. It was early March and they were trekking through an area free of Japanese. Rations were low and the men filled their spare socks with rice bought in the villages. An unwelcome item of wireless news caused some dismay. This broadcast reported attacks on a railway in Burma – a premature announcement, given that they were still two days away from their targets!


5 Column reached the top of a pass and began the approach to Bonchaung. Eighteen days had passed since the Chindwin crossing and they had yet to encounter a single Japanese soldier. Fergusson’s Column was expected to cut the railway, then cross the Irrawaddy and reach the Brigade rendezvous. The men had assumed they would attack the railway at night and cross the Irrawaddy at a remote location. Their Column Commander had very different ideas. They would blow the railway in daylight and cross at a major river town, using local boats. Fergusson chose the steamer station of Tigyaing and he hoped to cross on 10 March.27
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